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by Helen Fitzpatrick

little Boy Scout was reporting on his good deed for the day. He said, “I helped an old lady across

the street but it was very hard.” The scoutmaster queried, “Why was it so hard?” The little

Scout answered, “She didn’t want to go.” I really didn’t want to come down here to the History
Museum today but when George Kegley called, | knew I had to, because he has done so much for this
museum and for our community, so here | am and there you are. | hope you don’t stop listening before |
stop talking.

I was bom in 1923 in the old Lewis-Gale hospital, now a park-
ing lot next to the studio of WSLS-TV. My home was in Northwest in a
suburb called Grove Park. This area was developed by EImore D. Heins,
a German who with another German, Heini Scholz, owned all the theaters
in town, a very lucrative business. His home is now The Hermitage, a
Methodist retirement home. It was really in the country then and we were
surrounded by alfalfa fields.

A man we called Bubba came from Fincastle to mow the fields
now and then. The following day he would return to rake them and next
he would arrive with pitchforks and a friend to make the hay into hay-
stacks. We were crazy about Bubba because he would let us ride on his
horse for a few minutes each day. The haystacks delighted us too, because
they smelled so good and we almost mined them, playing hide and seek
and “old dead mule.”

One special memory | have is of afternoon naps. On certain days,

I would be on my bed and | would hear a horse clippity-clopping up the
street (our streets were asphalted by then). | knew who it was and rushed
downstairs and out the door to greet Liz Parrott, who was a good friend of Mother’s and who came to
visit her often. She would swing me up onto the saddle and ride me around the block. Then she returned,
dismounted and came in to have tea and a visit with Mama. Liz had ridden from her father’s farm, which
is now the Veterans Administration Hospital. Mr. Parrott’s home is the present administrator’s home.

We walked to school each day, came home for lunch and went back the five blocks to Forest Park
School. Bev [her late husband, Judge Beverly Fitzpatrick Sr.] carried my books to school most morn-
ings. We didn’t have book bags then but what made Buddy [brother Broaddus Jr.] and me feel special
was that Daddy made us a new pencil box each Christmas and that was so much more than many of our
friends received. There was only cursive writing in school. We were rehearsed in the Locker Writing
System and we had no idea how to print.

Helen Fitzpatrick

Helen Fitzpatrick, matriarch ofan active Roanokefamily, gave this reminiscence in the First Thursday
series ofthe Historical Society of Western Virginia on May 1, 2014.
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Jarrett-Chewning
Company was a
dealer of Studebaker
automobiles and
White motor trucks.
Broaddus Chewning
(the author’s father) is
in the center, leaning
against the automo-
bile and wearing a
straw hat.

The favorite games in Grove Park were played on the street, because there was little traffic.
Almost everyone had skates or scooters and we played tag and a hockey of sorts. The boys used broom-
sticks and the hockey puck was a tin can. Those cans were the size of golfballs and solid as a rock when
the games ended.

Another form of entertainment was for us to attend Sunday school and church, twice on Sun-
day and again on Wednesday nights. Only six denominations were prevalent in Roanoke then: Baptist,
Catholic, Presbyterian, Episcopal, Methodist and Lutheran. If there were fundamental groups, we were
not aware of them. We attended strange things like Walkathons and the Billy Sunday meetings at the
American Legion Hall.

I can remember gathering around our first radio as a family to listen to Amos and Andy, with
lots of static in the background. We went to Saturday movies (the Rialto, the Roanoke, the Jefferson and
the American theaters) and there was a Safety Club meeting each Saturday at the newly opened Gran-
din Theatre, attended by a huge crowd of children from all over town. To get into a movie, you had to
have 10 cents, a nickel for a candy bar and you had it made. The Judge [the late Beverly Fitzpatrick Sr.]
remembered belonging to a Scout troop at Greene Memorial Methodist Church. When he left home, his
mama gave him 15 cents: 5 for the bus and 10 for a hot dog and Coke at the Texas Tavern after the troop
meeting. | don’t know how he got home!

Air conditioning was unknown in those days and so was automatic heating. Daddy used to get
up in the morning before the rest of us to stoke the furnace and build a fire in the little water heater that
gave us warm water for our baths. There were no washing machines, no dryers or dishwashers. We had
no refrigerators but we did have an ice box. The ice man came once or twice a week to put a big hunk of
ice into the left side of it and the food went on the right. My brother and | used to chip pieces off ofthe
hunk to hold in our mouths and it was a treat.

There were no grocery stores near us, no national food chains as there are now. The nearest store
was about 3 miles away, down Melrose Avenue, called Carter’s Grocery Store. Mother would call in



her order (no dial phones yet) and a grand old black man named Louis would bring the food to the back
door, place it on the kitchen table and leave. There were no locked doors at that time and we never took
a key out of a car when we parked it.

To augment that, a produce truck would drive by often and wives would come out ofthe houses
to select vegetables and fruits, which were weighed on a swinging scale at the back ofthe truck. A milk-
man came twice a week, bringing milk, cream, cottage cheese and butter. Our dairy was Garst Brothers.
Our favorite trucks, however, were the ice cream ones. The driver would ring bells and | seem to recall
that he had a little song he played on an amplifier
so we would be sure not to miss him. All the kids
would rush out of their homes with small change to
purchase a popsicle. That was special!

Street cars were the main mode of transpor-
tation. One ran at the foot of our hill and proceeded
to Salem, | think. They ran all over Roanoke, and
when we moved to South Roanoke in 19501re-
member one coming up Jefferson Street to 26th,
then over to Rosalind Avenue, right on 27th, crossed
Wycliffe, left on 26th and back to Jefferson to return
downtown. Conductors had to reverse the seats at
the end of each run. The seats were wicker, with
brass handles on top. If you were headed for Salem,
you’d be facing that way. When you went back to
Roanoke, you would face in that direction. I always
sympathized with those conductors. The boys used
to delight in putting pennies on the trolley rails. A
flat penny was like a trophy. They also bedeviled
the conductor by disengaging the electric pole. The
poor man would have to leave the car to put the
pole back on the wire again. By this time, the boys
had disappeared, of course.

During the Depression, many hobos used
to come to the house, asking for food. Shaffer’s
Crossing was fairly close to us and we figured they
had come to Roanoke on trains, looking for ajob.
Mother never turned one away. | also recall Daddy checking on us, as we did our homework. “Keep
your lights on when you need them,” he would say, “but cut them off as soon as you are finished study-
ing. People don’t buy cars during Depressions,” he would explain.

Downtown was so different then. You could walk down Campbell Avenue and Jefferson Street
and speak to everyone you met by name. There were several “10-cent stores”: Woolworth’s, Kress,
Grant’s and McClellan’s. They were full of cosmetics, jewelry and ceramics, plus about anything else
that anyone might want. Most of the articles were made in Japan, not China.

We had some fine department stores. McBain’s, Heironimus, Pugh’s and Thurman & Boone were
the largest. They carried quality merchandise. When you made a purchase they wrote it on a pad, folded
the paper and put it in a canister. This, they inserted in a pneumatic tube which whisked it through many
pipes to the upstairs offices. You could hear those tubes rattling back down to the clerk’s desk. It was
fascinating.

No ladies went to town (or to church) without wearing dresses, hats, gloves, hose and heels.

Helen Sheahan Chewning (the author’s mother),
in period costume, riding on a floatin a parade in
Roanoke, circa 1925.



Victory Stadium on Thanksgiving Day, circa 1950. The stadium is packed with spectators attending

the annual VPI-VMI football game, dubbed “The Military Classic of the South.” Virginia Military Institute
cadets are in formation on the football field to honor the Virginia Polytechnic Institute’s Corps of Cadets,
seated in the stands at right. The VPI band is in formation on the north end of the field (left), while play-
ers warm up on the sidelines. The silos of Roanoke City Mills can be seen in the background.

And no ladies ever wore slacks! Fashion shows were quite popular and they raised money for charitable
causes. Another thing — when a new neighbor moved close to you, it was customary to go and call on
him or her. You left your engraved card on their hall table, which held a plate for that purpose. Then,
the new person was expected to “return the call.” That was a great way to get to know people who lived
nearby.

When | was a teenager, World War Il began and America began to change. Every citizen was
given a dated stamp book which allowed you to purchase things. Almost everything was rationed! Sugar,
butter, meat, gasoline, cigarettes, whiskey, et cetera. Bev was a student at Washington and Lee and he
traded his whiskey stamps to his friends for gas stamps, enabling him to come see me at Hollins.

Mother was chairman ofthe Red Cross Motor Corps and, of course, | belonged too. We wore
nifty uniforms and would be alerted when trains or planes of wounded soldiers were due here. We would
meet them, go on the cars and planes with those dear boys, trying to cheer them and give them some
comfort. We took sandwiches, cookies and cold drinks to them, which were deeply appreciated. Our
USO parlor was located in the train station so that servicemen would come up there to relax and have
some refreshment. Some ofus met at the Red Cross headquarters during the week to knit socks and hats
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Beverly Fitzpatrick with Helen Chewning

Inspired by local aviatrix Martha Anne
Woodrum, Helen took up flying.

for the men and to roll bandages.

Daddy and I were “block wardens.” Due to the
proximity ofthe rail yards, Roanoke had been told we
were a bombing target. So after dark each night, Papa
and | would roam the neighborhood, searching for any
pinpoint of light that might be shining out of a house.

Y ou must know by now that | married that
little boy who used to carry my books to school. He
was home on leave from the Navy when the announce-
ment came that the European war had ended. That VE
Day was one | will ever remember. We rushed down
to Jefferson Street to celebrate with throngs of people,
who made a solid wall across the avenue. People were
laughing, crying, dancing, hugging and most were arm
in arm. It was such ajoyful occasion.

Another great celebration Roanoke enjoyed oc-
curred each Thanksgiving. Crowds would line Jefferson
Street to watch the VMI and VPI cadets leave the train
at the station and march smartly out to Victory Stadium,
bands and all. The bleachers there were crammed with
fans who came to see the two military schools play
football. Many notables attended the game: Council
members, governors, and | even remember sitting be-
hind General and Mrs. George Marshall one year. The
nice thing was that these celebrities would switch sides
at halftime so they wouldn’t show favoritism.

One more story you may enjoy: While | was
working in the newsroom at the paper | decided to
learn to fly. Friends thought I was crazy, but | admired
Martha Anne Woodrum a lot; she encouraged me. The
night after | soloed, some neighbors entertained me at
dinner. Everyone was asking why | would attempt such
athing. I replied that I thought air travel was a thing of
the future. I’ll never forget what one man said. “You
don’t really believe that ordinary people will be flying
in airplanes, do you?” “l do,” I said. And look at what
has happened.

I have been privileged to see a great deal ofthe
world and I have always returned, being grateful to live
in Roanoke. | am blessed to live here and so are you!



O. Winston Link, recognized as a leading railroad photographer, also took indus-
trial and commercial photos, like this one of Interstate 81 construction at Newbern,
Pulaski County, in 1959.

O. Winston Link’s 100th Birthday Party

new exhibit, “The First Century of O. Winston Link,” opened last fall at the Link
useum and it was the highlight of a 100th birthday party for the noted railway
hotographer at the Roanoke museum on Dec. 14. From more than 2,000 images,
Ellen Arnold, a longtime volunteer at the museum, selected commercial and industrial
photographs that have never been exhibited, as well as photos from his personal life,
including one of his granddaughter, Annie.

A photo shows Link’s self-portrait while working on his first commercial project in
Louisiana in 1937. Because his initials were OWL, a portrait has him posing with an owl.
For a panoramic image of a switcher locomotive at Shaffers Crossing in Roanoke, he
shot the train by sections and pasted them together; He placed cables across the Maury
River near Buena Vista to hang lights and take a photo of a locomotive passing a dam.

Link was celebrated for his creative work from 1937 until retirement in 1983. He
died in 2001 at the age of 86. Peppermint stick ice cream, Link’s favorite, was served at
the birthday party.
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by J. Daniel Pezzoni

ay “farm” to someone and they are likely to picture a bam. The bam is the iconic building type of

the American farm landscape, yet changes in agricultural practices and land use have placed many

older bams at risk, in western Virginia as much as other areas ofthe country. Recognition of this
fact inspired the Bedford Historical Society to launch the Bedford County Farm Survey in 2013, a docu-
mentation of over 700 farms and thousands of farm buildings.

Known as the “Bedford Bam Survey” for short, and undertaken by the author, an architectural
historian with Landmark Preservation Associates in Lexington, the project was funded in part by the
Virginia Department of Historic Resources during a second phase in 2013-14. The survey generated a
wealth of information on the county’s historic farm buildings, ranging from crude log comcribs to archi-
tecturally sophisticated dairy bams to specialized facilities for canning tomatoes and packing apples, as
well as many other common (and uncommon) farm building types.

What were Bedford County’s first farm buildings like? The simple answer is: we don’t know.
Settlement ofthe area that would become Bedford County in 1753 began in earnest in the first halfofthe
18th century as agriculturalists of largely English and African derivation moved into the area from more
established areas in Piedmont and Tidewater Virginia (with a few settlers from other regions), but no
farm buildings from this early period are known to survive. In fact, no farm building from the 1700s was
positively identified by the survey, although it is possible a few are tucked away in remote comers of
the county (the survey concentrated on properties visible from public roads; many less accessible farms
were not included).

But we can deduce something about Bedford’s early farm building stock. In its society, economy
and culture the county was like others further east, and in those areas farm buildings were typically
frame structures of simple gable-roofed form, with weatherboard siding and wood shingle roofs. Frame
construction was the normative building technology of colonial Virginia, and wood was an abundant
building material.

In fact, standing timber was over-abundant, a hindrance to pioneer agricultural. The first step in
the establishment of a Bedford farm would have been land clearance, a back-breaking chore typically
carried out by a slave workforce under the supervision ofthe farm owner or his overseer. But there was a
shortcut. Farmers often planted their crops in “deadenings,” groves of dead trees killed by “girdling,” the
removal of a strip ofthe life-giving outer woody layers. The leafless branches allowed sufficient light to
reach the ground for the plants to grow. Fire was also employed in a version of slash-and-bum agricul-
ture which enhanced, at least in the short term, soil nutrients. With its charred, dead forests early Bedford
would have been no beauty spot, but the point was to maximize agricultural profits with a minimum of
effort, not aesthetics.

A glimpse ofthe county’s early farm building stock is provided by the records ofthe Mutual As-

Dan Pezzoni is an architectural historian whoformerly worked in the Roanoke Regional Preservation Of-

fice ofthe State Department o fHistoric Resources. He has written or edited eight county architectural his-
tories and he hasprepared National Register o fHistoric Places nominationsfor over 100 historic districts
and individual properties in seven states.
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The iconic American bam: the County Farm Bam (1936), located on the former county poor farm near
Bedford, has the gambrel roof and red-painted siding typical of the the larger early-20th-century barns.

surance Society of Virginia, an insurance company active in the rural parts ofthe county during the first
two decades of the 19th century. Ofthe 10 or so bams described in the company’s “declarations” (appli-
cations for coverage) for the period 1802 through 1818, all were wooden buildings with wood-covered
roofs. The wooden construction of the bams was either log or frame and the wood roof coverings meant
the buildings were wood shingled or may have had clapboard or board-and-weight pole roofs.

Most ofthe bams described in the Mutual Assurance Society records for Bedford County were
one story high. Two were described as two stories, possibly an indication they were ofthe type known
as the bank bam form. As the name suggests, a bank bam was built into a bank so that both its upper and
lower levels were directly accessible from the ground. The upper level contained a haymow (hay loft)
and, typically, a central drive-in bay and threshing floor. The lower level contained animal stalls. Bank
bams are traced to German-speaking lands in Europe and were introduced to Virginia by Germans who
primarily settled west ofthe Blue Ridge.

Surviving bank bams in the county are ofthree basic types, all relatively rare. The frue bank
bams, those having full lower levels, appear to date mostly to the 20th century and may owe more to
promotion of the form in the agricultural press than to vernacular transmission. Examples include bank
bams on the Camer-Croft Farm at Kelso Mill and the Nance Farm in the Moneta vicinity.

The second type might be called false bank bams. These have lower levels but they are not a full
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story in height and did not function for housing livestock. Instead the purpose appears to have been to
raise the haymow floor offthe ground to protect the hay from damp. The premier example of the form is
the 19th century bam at Parkdale Farm near Sedalia. This large bam, constructed of pegged mortise-and-
tenon heavy timbers and possibly antebellum in date, is also notable for the wrought-nailed construction
of its double-leaf drive-through doors, representing either a late use of the nail type, manufacture ofthe
nails on the farm, or recycling of doors from an earlier bam. The ca. 1900 bam on the Jennings Farm
near Kelso Mill also has haymow floors lifted off grade.

The third bank bam type might be called a halfbank bam. An example ofthe form is the frame
bam on the Blair Farm near Chamblissburg which was probably built in the early decades of the 20th
century although it reuses hewn timbers from an earlier building (possibly a bam). Not only does the
Blair bam have a halfbank form, its design is split-level; the south end, to the left ofthe center drive-
through, has lower-level animal stalls the upper portions of which rise several feet above the drive-
through floor, whereas the north end is level with the drive-through. The Blair bam is also notable for
various provisions for the care of the animals housed in the lower level such as an engaged porch-like
drive-through in front of the stalls; latticed openings on the front of the stalls to facilitate ventilation;
and openings at the back ofthe stalls above the center drive-through floor through which hay from the
mow was easily forked to the animals below.

The haymow may be considered the functional nucleus ofthe county’s bams, and because of its
utility apart from the sheltering and feeding of livestock it often exists in isolation as a hay bam. Many
hay bams are constructed of log, a material and construction technique ideally suited to hay storage. The
slender young-growth trees that could be used to build hay bams were less valuable and presumably
more plentiful than larger, older trees during the early 20th century, the period from which most of the
county’s log hay bams appear to survive. The gaps between logs provided ample air flow to the loosely
piled hay.

One of the oldest bams identified in the survey, that on the Elliott Farm at Reba, which appears
to date to the 1880s although it may have older fabric, has as its core a stoutly constructed v-notched log
haymow that perches high on a boulder and rubble foundation. The frame stock shed that attaches to its
side is constructed with cut nails and, although it may have been built at the same time as the log por-
tion, reads as secondary. Over time the Elliott bam was enlarged by two additional frame sections to cre-
ate a linear four-part composition. The barn’s location on the heavily wooded flanks ofthe Blue Ridge,
relatively far from the railroads that served Bedford County in the late 19th century and in an area where
tanbark production and the creation of new arable ground through the practice of “deadening” were still
occurring, probably accounts for the relatively large logs used in the barn’s construction.

The log “crib” ofthe standard log hay bam could be doubled to form the “double-crib bam” of
Appalachian fame. Presumably many double-crib log bams were built in Bedford County in historic
times; however, the windshield documentation and prior and recent survey efforts have identified only
two. One was surveyed by architectural historian Anne Carter Lee in the Rocky Branch/Joppa Mill
vicinity in 1975. Lee noted that the two-level barn’s lower level was very low, more like a raised base-
ment, the configuration noted in the partial bank bams described above. The second documented double-
crib log bam is located on the Key-Shackford Farm north of Bedford. Ownership history, nail chronolo-
gy, and other features suggest the Key-Shackford bam may date to the 1910s, possibly the 1920s. Sheds
on two sides protected many ofthe saddle-notched logs, which are in almost pristine condition, but
exposed sides have experienced deterioration which current owners Joy and Andrew Watkins are repair-
ing.

The basic functional division ofthe bank bam with animals below and hay above character-
ized the large non-bank bams constructed throughout the county in the first half of the 20th century.
These multipurpose bams were promoted during the period by the agricultural press, plan services, state
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agricultural authorities and

the Virginia Agricultural and
Mechanical College (Vir-
ginia Tech) in Blacksburg. The
form reflected the interest in
scientific farming methods,
efficiency and labor-saving
technology that characterized
the Victorian and Progressive
periods.

Closely associated
with the newly introduced
multipurpose bam form, also
known as the loft bam type,
was the popularity ofthe gam-
brel roof form. The double-
sloped gable roof came to be
replaced by the four-sloped
gambrel form in new loft bam
construction during the period
1900 to 1950. The gambrel
bam roof form in its modem
incarnation was spread by the
adoption ofthe mechanized
hay carrier after the Civil
War. The carrier used a hay
fork, typically in the form ofa
pincer-like grappling mecha-
nism, to lift loose hay from
awagon parked in the barn’s
drive-through or outside one
end and drop it into the hay-
mow, thereby bypassing the
hard work of pitching by pitch
fork. In 1867 lowa inventor
William Louden patented what
became the preferred system..
Louden’s carrier “elevates
the hay perpendicularly any
height,” the inventor wrote in
period advertising copy, “then
conveys it horizontally to the
back ofthe longest mow and

The double-crib log barn on the Key-Shackford Farm probably dates to
the 1910s or 1920s but is representative of earlier log barns.

A hayfork outside a Bedford County barn.

returns the Fork back to the load without a single effort of the Pitcher.” Hay fork systems like Louden’s
worked best in haymows that were free of obstruction from the crossbeams of old-fashioned heavy
timber construction. The old construction methods were becoming less tenable as mechanized lumbering
gradually reduced the availability of large timbers. The solution, perfected in the Midwest and gradually
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The brick horse barn at Savenac is an early local example ofthe gambrel-roofed form.

adopted in east coast areas like Bedford County, was the development of roof forms constructed from
lighter members that dispensed with crossbeams and were in their later iterations self-supporting.
Among the county’s early gambrel-roofed multipurpose bams is the horse bam at Savenac south of Bed-
ford, which may have been built in the 1910s when horse raiser Dean Starks acquired the property. The
bam is representative of transitional gambrel forms. The roofis supported by a row of heavy posts at the
breakpoints and the posts in turn are reinforced by cross-braces that tie in to the floor structure and wall
plates. Starks’English nationality may in part explain the roof form as well as other features such as the
barn’s handsome brick construction and a basement level that may have served to enhance ventilation of
the space above.

The 1936 County Farm Bam, or “Red Bam™ as it is generally known, located at Falling Creek
Park, has a self-supporting gambrel roof modeled on the light-framing advances of the early 20th centu-
ry. It has been suggested the bam was built from a Sears, Roebuck kit and it does share general features
with published examples of Sears bams, as well as specific features such as the shed ventilation dormers
that project from the roof; however, an exact exterior match has not been established. Other bam kit sup-
pliers such as the Gordon-Van Tine Company, the Aladdin Company and the Louden Machinery Com-
pany were active during the era and may be the source. For example, the Aladdin Company is believed
to have supplied components for the Woolfolk Bam, built in 1940-41 and visible from U.S. 460 on the
south side of Bedford.

A bam with a gambrel roof similar to that which covers the County Farm Bam was built at
Triple Hills Farm near Stewartsville in 1944-45. According to family tradition, farm owner C.W. Spra-
dlin had trouble finding a bam builder who could build the kind ofbam he wanted until he found a
23-year-old carpenter named Marvin Saunders who was up to the task. The barn’s virtually self-support-
ing gambrel roofis even more economical of lumber than the County Farm Bam roof, although the area
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spanned appears to be narrower. The tradition about the barn’s construction suggests the advanced roof
forms were still relatively unknown to county bam builders as late as the 1940s.

The epitome of the self-supporting form was the so-called Gothic Arch roof popular from the
1910s through the 1950s. The Gothic Arch roof, which has the curved and pointed profile ofthe Gothic
lancet arch, is represented in the survey by the roofon the 1947 cinder block dairy bam at the afore-
mentioned Parkdale Farm. Gothic bam roofs and roofs with continuous curves typically utilized thin
wood sections that were bent, layered in multiple plies, and glued and/or nailed together to create curved
rafters. The technique was first publicized in 1916 and by the 1930s was widely adopted by progressive
farmers. The barrel-vaulted bentwood-rafter haymow ofthe ca. 1950 bam at Groveland near Perrowville
is a representative example of the form.

The county’s multipurpose bams tend to be the farm buildings where various technological
advances are most often found. Principal among these, at least in number, are hay carriers, and most sur-
viving examples utilize grappling-type hay forks. A clue to the presence or former presence of a hay fork
system is provided by the hay bonnets or hoods that project from the roof peaks of many frame and ma-
sonry bams. Generally hay bonnets have a small triangular or wedge form sufficient only to shelter the
boom that supports the short extension of the hay fork track outside the bam; however, the 1920s Sprad-
lin Bam near Stewartsville, a small frame hay and stock bam, features a full strut-supported extension of
the gable roofwhich in addition to protecting the hay fork rail may have served to shelter a hay wagon
parked below during off-loading. A multipurpose bam that utilized the old-fashioned hand-pitched hay
loading method is the small, early 20th-century stock and hay bam on the Jeter Farm near Chambliss-
burg where the hay was loaded into the mow from a wagon or truck parked in the drive-in bay beside the
mow.

Similar in operation to hay carriers are litter carriers, a somewhat euphemistic term for contrap-
tions used to transport soiled straw litter from bams. In Bedford County these are typically associated
with the milking parlor sections of dairy bams. Examples include the Hurt Bam north of Bedford, which
preserves a trolley-mounted carrier that runs along a suspended track down the center of the parlor and

The Hurt Barn,
one ofthe
county’s more
sophisticated
early dairy
barns, features
a metal silo,
arear entry
alcove for
emptying a litter
carrier, and a
privy for farm
workers.
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dumps out the back ofthe bam through double-leaf doors, and the 1927 bam on the Wright Farm, also
north of Bedford, which no longer has its carrier but retains the mounts for the track and double-leaf
back doors with a notch through which the track projected.

A device of somewhat mysterious function survives in the early 20th century bam on the Ar-
rington Farm near Peaksville. A pulley system mounted over the west entry to the center drive-through
has a long framed board with, at each end, drum-like pulleys or shafts with toothed iron gears. Accord-
ing to local tradition the apparatus was associated with a hay carrier system but how the system oper-
ated is not recalled. Also possibly associated with a non-standard hay carrier system is the large wooden
drum pulley that projects from the front ofthe ca. 1900 horse bam at Rothsay Farm in Forest. Architec-
tural historian Travis McDonald notes the existence of a similar wheel mechanism in the 1856 granary
at nearby Poplar Forest. The Rothsay horse bam also features a cantilevered shed-roofed projection that
may have housed an engine: an exhaust pipe that projects through the roof may have vented former ma-
chinery and a pair of cast iron mounts just inside the wing’s entry may have provided stabilization.

The rise of commercial dairying in the county in the early twentieth century and the implementa-
tion of stringent health and hygiene requirements concerning the handling and purity of dairy products
fostered the constmction of sophisticated dairy buildings. Representative ofthe county’s better-equipped
early dairy bams is the aforementioned 1927 bam on the Wright Farm. The bam has an unusual form
with a gambrel-roofed haymow wing and gabled milk room wing that branch offa main gambrel-roofed
axis containing the milking parlor. (A milking parlor is a stanchion-lined space used for milking the cow
herd; a milk room is a wing or separate or semi-detached building for processing the milk.)

The bam is reminiscent in several respects to the model dairy bam constructed at Virginia Tech
in 1899 according to plans by Roanoke architect Henry H. Huggins, notably the presence of multiple
wings at different levels, although EImo Wright, the barn’s original owner, might have been inspired
by any one ofthe many bam plans available from published sources and plan services. By housing the
milk room in a separate wing a degree of separation from the unhygienic milking parlor was achieved
and the milk room wing’s concrete floors and wainscots further enhanced hygiene. The milk room was
equipped with brine coolers, a vat for cooling the milk cans with an overhead hoist beam for lifting them
out, a boiler that supplied hot water for washing implements, and a metal-lined vault for implement stor-
age visible on the exterior as a small shed-roofed extension on the end of the wing. In the early 1950s
a separate cinder block milking parlor and milk room were built to the side ofthe 1927 bam. Concrete
construction, painted on the interior, was favored as a method for controlling bacteria. The new milk-
ing arrangement on the Wright Farm reflected an important postwar shift in the industry: the adoption of
refrigerated bulk tanks for the keeping of milk in place of individual cans and the piping of milk from
mechanized milkers attached to the cows’udders directly to the tank to minimize handling.

At its peak in the mid-1940s the Wright Farm’s milking parlor accommodated a herd of 86 cows
at a single milking. Larger still was the herd at nearby Redlands farm which numbered as many as 300
to 400 head. The milking parlor at Redlands, which may be contemporaneous with the one on the Wright
Farm, shares with it specialized features such as a milk house wing replete with boiler and cooler and
an additional engine room wing with two motors intact. The milking parlor proper is spanned by a roof
with a complicated structure of scissor trusses and tension rods.

Frame dairy bams and milking parlors were built as late as the mid-1940s, for example the broad
gable-roofed milking parlor built on the Markham Farm about 1946, which at the time was one ofthe
first specialized dairy buildings in its Kelso Mill Road area. But for the most part post-war dairy build-
ings were constructed of cinder block. Milk house arrangements were varied both before the war and
after. Semi-detached milk houses connected to their milking parlors or dairy bams by covered breeze-
ways are represented by the 1936 County Farm Bam and the ca. 1950 dairy bam (later converted to a
horse bam) on the Blair Farm. Milk houses constructed as separate single-purpose buildings appear on
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anumber of farms. The construction of separate or semi-detached milk houses responded to the desire
ofregulators for milk houses that were “free from contaminating surroundings,” meaning the filth ofthe
milking parlor.

The iconic image ofthe American bam often includes a silo but in Virginia as well as nation-
wide silos are relative latecomers to the farm landscape. Silage — com or other feed that is partially
fermented to produce acids that inhibit bacterial growth — enabled farmers to store quantities of feed for
periods of poor or unavailable pasturage, as during droughts and snowy weather, which in turn enabled
farmers to expand the size of their dairy herds. European agriculturalists experimented with the making
of silage in the 1870s and the first American silos were apparently built in the mid-1870s.

The practice quickly caught on, prompting the U.S. Department of Agriculture to publish a report
on ensilage in 1882. Silos from the years around 1880 were in the form oftrenches or covered pits but
by the end of the 1880s above-ground tower-type silos were being built in increasing numbers. Many of
the early upright silos were square/rectangular or octagonal in floor plan but when it was realized that rot

M e iconic image of the /American barn often
includes a silo.... M any of the early upright silos
were square/rectangular or octagonal in floor plan
but when it was realized that rot was more likely

to occur in the corners oiff polygonal silos build ers

switched to the now~standard circular form

was more likely to occur in the comers of polygonal silos builders switched to the now-standard circular
form. The first Bedford County silos, which date to the early 20th century, were apparently constructed
ofwooden staves. Only one surviving example of a wooden stave silo was documented by the survey,
the silo attached to the 1939 dairy bam on the Tanner Farm near Big Island. The Tanner silo was disas-
sembled at another farm and reassembled on the Tanner property with a rectangular metal-sided enclo-
sure to protect the staves from the elements.

Wood construction gradually gave way to more durable materials. The attractive stone and
poured concrete silo on the Arrington Farm was built by brothers Harry, Onyx, Morris and Joseph Ar-
rington in the mid-1930s when the four were boys or young men. The bam attached to the Arrington
silo is now gone. Charles Ervin Woolfolk also built a stone silo in the 1930s at his farm just outside
Bedford. Concrete was the most popular silo material in the county. Early examples, such as the silo at-
tached to the ca. 1935 bam on the Simmons Farm near Chamblissburg, were poured in forms; however,
most surviving historic-period concrete silos were built from prefabricated concrete staves that slotted
together and were held in place by steel tension rings. The example on the Cridlin Farm near Goode was
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The McDaniel Tobacco Barn, believed to date to 1851-52, is one ofthe county’s oldest
surviving farm buildings.

built with components (the concrete staves or perhaps only the domical metal roof) manufactured by the
Marietta Silos company of Marietta, Ohio, as indicated by the metal logo on its weathervane.

Brick was also occasionally used in silo construction as demonstrated by the ca. 1946 silo on the
Markham Farm and the ca. 1945 silo at Triple Hills Farm. A material especially well suited to silage-
making owing to its impervious vitrified surface was terra-cotta tile block. The ca. 1920s Chappelle Bam
northwest of Bedford has a silo constructed of “vitrified hollow clay tile” manufactured by the National
Fire Proofing Company (NATCO) of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, as a plaque inside the silo attests. NAT-
CO also produced tile block for the construction ofthe ca. 1920s silos, recently tom down, on the farm
at the nearby Elks National Home in Bedford. The company advertised its silo as “the silo that lasts for
generations.” A tile block silo also serves the horse bam at Savenac and like the bam it may date to the
1910s. The Hurt Bam north of Bedford, which appears to date to the 1920s or 1930s, has a silo con-
structed ofriveted steel plates, some of which bear traces of the stenciled name of the manufacturer, the
E.W. Ross Company of Springfield, Ohio.

Bedford County’s dominant agricultural specialization for the first century and a half of settle-
ment was tobacco cultivation, and tobacco bams for the curing of tobacco, generally referred to as “to-
bacco houses” in Virginia’s early history, were probably essential features of Bedford County’s earliest
farms, though the popular colonial-era sun-curing method of drying the harvested leaf did not require
curing bams. The county’s earliest tobacco bams may have been frame, gradually giving way to log
construction by the end ofthe 18th century, a trend noted by historian Ronald L. Giese in research on the
county’s historic tobacco bams conducted for Poplar Forest.

Most ofthe county’s surviving tobacco bams, which appear to date predominately to the first half
ofthe 20th century, are log, a material that when chinked and daubed made an air-tight enclosure ideal
for the two forms of curing prevalent in the county, fire curing and flue curing. Fire curing, the more
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common of the two techniques locally, involved the lighting of small fires on the floor ofthe bam which
both heated and smoked the leaves suspended overhead from poles known as tier poles. Fire curing had
come into use in tobacco-growing regions ofthe East by 1786 and was common by 1800.

Flue curing, introduced by agricultural innovators in the early 19th century and in Bedford
County dominant in the county’s southern tip, was a modification of fire curing that removed the fire to
stone fireboxes at the front comers ofthe bam and conducted the heat through flues that snaked across
the bam floor to exhaust their heat and smoke beside the front entry. Flue curing heated the leaves
without smoking them and it greatly reduced the threat of catching the bam and its contents on fire from
stray sparks. Both fire-cure and flue-cure bams have tall forms to maximize exposure ofthe leaves to
rising heat. The basic concept may have been borrowed from smokehouses which worked on the same
principle.

The county’s oldest known tobacco bam, the McDaniel Tobacco Bam near Perrowville, is be-
lieved to date to 1851-52 and stands on what was at the time the farm of Albert McDaniel. The 1850s
date seems probable given the specificity of the oral tradition and also the cut nails visible in the door
jamb. The relatively large v-notched log bam, which measures approximately 21.5 feet to a side, has the
tall profile ofthe tobacco bam form and its stone foundation lacks fireboxes, confirming it as a fire-cure
bam. Smoke residues on some of the lower tier poles and walls ofthe bam provide evidence of the fires
used to cure the leaf.

Although flue curing was not as common in the county at large, flue-cure bams appear to survive
in disproportionately greater numbers compared to fire-cure bams, although some fire-cure bams may
be masquerading as hay bams. Flue-cure bams, when they occur, are often found in groupings oftwo
or more. The Martin Farm on Falling Creek Road has three surviving flue-cure bams of an original five
tobacco bams (the other two were fire-cure bams). Most or all ofthe log bams were built in the 1920s.
Current co-owner ofthe farm, Alvin M. Martin, notes that flue-cure bams could be easily converted to
fire curing by the simple expedient of opening the flues on the interior. Depressions in the ground near
two of the bams mark spots where mud was dug for use in daubing the gaps between the logs, routine
maintenance necessary to keep the bams air-tight.

The Martin Farm lacked a common feature of Piedmont Virginia tobacco farms: an ordering pit,
a semi-subterranean space where the cured leaves were hung to be “placed in order,” that is, exposed to
ambient moisture from the earth that made them supple enough to handle without crumbling. Instead,
the Martin family flooded the floors of their tobacco bams with water or sprinkled the leaves with a
watering can while the leaves hung from the tier poles. An ordering pit survives on another southern
Bedford County farm, the Jones Farm near Smith Mountain Lake State Park. A partially excavated cellar
under a pack house or “stripping house” where the cured tobacco was prepared for shipment is outfitted
with cmde dimensional-lumber racks on which the cured leafwas placed in order. The log tobacco bam
on the Turner Farm near Graves Store, originally a flue-cure bam, has a shed-roofed log wing where the
cured leafwas apparently prepared after curing. The wing has tier poles as in the bam and a low door-
like opening through which the cured leaves were passed through to its interior.

The county preserves a diversity of other specialized farm building types. The survey document-
ed numerous examples of com cribs, granaries and chicken houses. Buildings with a hybrid agricultural-
processing function include tomato canneries and apple packing houses. The introduction of large-scale
commercial tomato cultivation to the county in the early 20th century necessitated facilities for process-
ing the crop and preparing it for shipment to market. Any bam or other building large enough to house
the workers and machinery during the brief summer canning season would do but many producers
constructed purpose-built canneries. Typically these were long one-story buildings that reflected the
assembly-line nature ofthe production process which began with receiving and continued on to scalding,
peeling, canning, boiling the cans, labeling, boxing and shipping.
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The Peters Tomato Cannery in Moneta has the barn-like form and construction of the
county’s formerly numerous early 20th century tomato canneries.

Representative of the early canneries is the one on the Arrington-Gross Farm near Peaksville
which was apparently built before 1918. The cannery was built not only to facilitate the canning pro-
cess but for the comfort of the workers who during the Gross family’s ownership were adults and older
children in the Gross family. The end of the building that sheltered the hot work of scalding and boiling
is slatted to encourage air flow (the slats are now covered with metal sheathing). The more enclosed ver-
tical-board-sided end was used to store the boxes of cans until they were picked up by trucks for ship-
ment. An essential feature ofthe cannery, one shared by many others, was its location beside a creek,
in this instance Stony Creek. The creek supplied water to the operation and was used to wash away the
peelings. The Arrington-Gross cannery also had an office in a shed wing (now removed) that projected
from a comer.

Apple growing was not as extensive an agricultural specialization as tomato growing and can-
ning but it nevertheless made a mark on the county’s architectural landscape. An early example of apple-
related buildings was the log apple bam W.C. Hatcher built ca. 1916 on his Twin Oaks Farm. A surviv-
ing log apple bam on the Johnson-Dooley Farm, high on the slopes of Campbell Mountain near Peaks
of Otter, was fashioned out of logs from a tobacco bam at some date prior to 1966. Another building as-
sociated with apple growing is the apple picker’s cabin on the Watson Farm near the Bedford Reservoir,
a small one-room board-and-batten bunk house, perhaps dating to the 1920s-1950s period, which retains
crude built-in bunk beds.

More imposing than the apple bams and picker cabins were the packing houses associated with
the larger orchards. Among the oldest of these is the packing house at Hunting Creek Farm near Sedalia
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Apple grading machinery in the Logwood Apple Packing House (1955), located on
Wheats Valley Road in the heart of Bedford orchard country.

which was probably built in the 1920s. The large two-story building, sided with weatherboards and set
on poured concrete and stone foundations, has something ofthe appearance of a large bam ofthe era
though inside the difference is immediately apparent. The complicated conveyor-belt apparatus used
for grading the apples extends the length ofthe main space. Slatted slides, apparently for feeding boxes
to the packers who worked by the belts, connect to the second floor where the boxes were stored. The
Hunting Creek operation ranked among the county’s top four apple growers in 1949.

At the smaller end ofthe size spectrum is the Yoder Apple Packing House, also near Sedalia,
which has interesting origins. Its builder in the late 1940s was Jacob Johnson Yoder who fought in the
Battle ofthe Bulge during World War 11. Upon his return to the states he decided apple growing on a
Bedford County mountainside was the quiet life he needed after the horrors of combat. His pole-built
packing house, though cmdely constructed compared to the other examples, nevertheless shares the
same functional division of a lower level for grading operations and an upper level for box storage.

Many people helped make the Bedford Bam Survey possible, but the driving force was Bedford
preservationist Betty Gereau. Gereau was not content to let the work sit on a shelfand made public
outreach an important aspect of the project. One initiative involved working with county middle school
students to produce pastel drawings of local bams for the 2014 “Bams of Bedford” calendar. The project
was featured at the Bedford County Agricultural Economic Development Advisory Board Expo held in
March 2014 and has also been covered in the Bedford Bulletin and the Lynchburg Business Magazine.
These efforts raised public awareness ofthe county’s historic bams and will hopefully encourage preser-
vation ofthese important buildings types.
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about whom much has been written. Thousands of her images of

historical sites, primarily in the Southern and Mid- Atlantic states,
are among her important legacy. Bom in Grafton, West Virginia, in
1864, her professional career in photography endured more than a half-
century, almost until her death in 1952,

She became known nationally during the 1890s as one of the
first “photojoumalists” and the first female press photographer, and
later for her photographic portraits of dignitaries, including Presidents
Cleveland, Harrison, McKinley, Roosevelt and Taft, taken at her studio
in Washington, D.C. Her images frequently appeared in newspapers and
magazines, but others, mostly those from her later career, were taken
for archival rather than commercial purposes, and today are held by
such repositories as the Library of Congress and the University of North
Carolina Libraries.

Frances Benjamin Johnston was a groundbreaking photographer

One of her earliest and best-known documentary works is an Fig. 1 Renowned photog-
extensive collection of photographs taken 1899-1900 at the Hampton rapher Frances Benjamin
Institute for African Americans in Hampton, Virginia. After moving Johnston, circa 1950. [Library
to New York around 1910, Johnston partnered for several years with of Congress]

Mattie Edwards Hewitt to specialize in architectural photography, and
began to concentrate on photographing gardens and estates throughout the U.S. and Europe. [Fig. 1]
Beginning about 1925, amid growing interest in historic preservation and documenting historic
structures inspired by the ongoing restoration of Colonial Williamsburg, Johnston resumed her photogra-
phy of historic Virginia landmarks. Beginning in 1933, she was funded by a series of seven grants from
the Carnegie Corporation to document colonial buildings in nine southern states. Although she clearly
sought out colonial-era buildings, many of her subjects were built much later, into the mid-19th century.
Johnston’s architectural photography was compiled in a number of books including Henry 1.
Brock’s “Colonial Churches in Virginia, ...Photographic Studies by Frances Benjamin Johnston” (Rich-
mond: Dale Press, 1930); and “Early Architecture of North Carolina: A Pictorial Survey by Frances

Mike Pulice is the Western Region architectural historianfor the Virginia Department o fHistoric Re-
sources. Forfurther reading about historic brick architecture in the Roanoke Valley, see the author3d book
“Nineteenth-Century Brick Architecture in the Roanoke Valley and Beyond: Discovering the True Legacies
o fthe Deyerle Builders ” (History Museum o fWestern Virginia, 2011).

22



Fig. 2. The George Trout House — original c. 1830 main block (right) and added c. 1840
front wing (left). [Frances Benjamin Johnston Collection. Library of Congress.]

Benjamin Johnston, with an Architectural History” by Thomas T. Waterman (Chapel Hill: University of
North Carolina Press, 1941, 1947). In 1945, she received an honorary membership into the American In-
stitute of Architects for her “notable achievement in recording photographically the early architecture of
the United States,” and she later donated most of her materials to the Library of Congress, creating the
Carnegie Survey ofthe Architecture ofthe South, covering more than 1,700 sites in over 7,000 photo-
graphs; 2,910 of her images taken in Virginia are available online at the Library of Congress website. (1)

In her photographic surveys Johnston gave wide coverage to eastern Virginia, where most of the
state’s colonial-era buildings are located. However, her work concentrated on only a few of the most es-
teemed landmarks of the Blue Ridge and Piedmont, and apparently she made no forays to the far south-
western reaches of the Virginia.

In 1930, within the City of Roanoke, Johnston took two photos ofthe Horton House, aka. Nestle
Brook (demolished in 2014), seven images of George Tayloe’s Buena Vista, and seven of “Trouts Farm,”
discussed below. [Fig. 2] In Roanoke County the same year, she took three portraits of the Bushong
House (previously the David Deyerle House) and one of an unknown brick house near Salem. [Note:
A log house mistakenly labeled “log farm house, Hollins vie.” was actually in present-day Botetourt
County — the Bryan McDonald Sr. House, demolished ca. 2008.] In 1934, in Botetourt County, John-
ston captured a few photos of the 18th-century Bryan McDonald Sr. and Bryan McDonald Jr. houses,
and the farm called Greenfield, which had been associated with Colonel William Preston in the 1760s.
In Bedford County in 1935, she took a few shots each of Thomas Jefferson’s Poplar Forest, the Federal-
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style house and Civil War landmark known as Sandusky, and a plantation house called Welboume.

Johnston’s westernmost site in Virginia is the splendid early 19th-century house known as Foth-
eringay, near Elliston in eastern Montgomery County, of which eight excellent photos taken in 1935
have been preserved. In the Chatham vicinity of Pittsylvania County in 1930, she captured a few ofthe
most noteworthy houses including the Moses House, better known as Little Cherrystone, as well as the
prestigious Dan’s Hill, Oak Hill and Berry Hill plantation houses near Danville.

Although cursory in detail and geographical coverage, Johnston’s work represents the seminal
documentary survey of historic architecture in Southwest Virginia. No such efforts had been undertaken
previously, though the more extensive Works Progress Administration (WPA) Virginia Historical Inven-
tory would soon follow, in 1936-1938. Though Johnston’s photographs of each site were few in number,
most of her architectural photographs were of exceptional quality for their time, particularly those taken
after 1933 with Carnegie funding.

Her skill as a photographer is evident, but it was an obvious, deep appreciation for her subjects
that guided her practice. Clearly she selected her camera placements and angles carefully, deftly han-
dling the challenges of natural lighting, capturing large and small details others would have considered
unimportant. Furthermore, secondary buildings such as kitchens and smokehouses, virtually ignored by
the Virginia Historical Inventory, were often included in Johnston’s photographic surveys. Early images
of outbuildings are quite rare and therefore of great value to historians. Fortunately Johnston’s photos
are beautifully preserved and have been scanned at high resolution, allowing the small details to be
brought into focus.

George Trout Farm

O f considerable interest are Johnston’s afore-
mentioned photos of “Trouts Farm,” once
owned by George Trout. The brick house and
outbuildings located on the waters of Peters
Creek and the Roanoke River, now in the City
of Roanoke, were destroyed by around 1970.
Fortunately they were documented in Frances
Johnston’s 1930 photos and by a few sentences
in the Historic American Building Survey In-
ventory of 1958, which noted the slave quarters
and meathouse were located east ofthe main
house, and provided the following ownership
history: “John Neely was a large land holder

in the county, later sold to George Trout of the
well-known Trout family. Neelys and Trouts Fig. 3. Current map of former George Trout Farm

were among the first families in the Roanoke location near the C'* of Roanoke western limits.
area. Currently owned by E.E. Engleman.” The
Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission survey of 1968 offered a few photos and the following back-
ground: “The George Trout House was built circa 1830 by George Trout after the land was purchased
from Dr. John Neely in the 1820’s. The property is now owned (since 1962) by Concrete Ready Mixed
Corporation.” (2) [Fig. 3]

While the census never recorded a middle name or initial for George Trout, family genealogies
found online record his middle name as Nathan and his birthplace as Timberville, Rockingham County,
Virginia. He was bom in January, 1782, and died in Roanoke County in June, 1850. He is said to have
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served in the War of 1812 and moved to Bote-
tourt about 1816, where he purchased the 250-
acre farm at the mouth of Peters Creek. George
Trout does indeed appear in the 1820 and 1830
federal census as a resident of Botetourt County
(Roanoke County was carved out of Botetourt

in 1838). Within his household were five daugh-
ters, three sons, and one slave—a male less than
24 years old. The 1840 census identifies Trout as
a farmer by profession, between 50 and 59 years
of age. His eight children remained at home with
their mother, Mary, who was between 40 and 49
years old. The three boys were engaged in farm-
ing. By 1850, Trout’s real estate was assessed at
$19,000. Though now 68 years old, he and sons
Jacob, 22, and David, 20, continued farming.
Mary was 59 years old and only daughter Han-
nah, 17, remained at home.

Building Descriptions

Johnston’s 1930 photos of the Trout Farm show
a dilapidated, likely vacant house and three
roughly contemporaneous brick outbuildings—a
two-story secondary dwelling, a meathouse, and
a one-story, probable kitchen/quarters.

Main House

The two-story brick main house had an
unusual plan owing to the circa 1840 addition
ofatwo-story brick wing extending forward
from the original Flemish bond facade, and
a one-story rear wing or ell, likely part of the
original ¢.1830 construction. Gauged brick jack
arches spanning the first-story windows and
Flemish bond brickwork appear on the front of
the main block and the west (side) elevation of
the main block and rear wing, while the rear

Fig. 4. (top) The George Trout House— rear view of
original c. 1830 two-story main block and one-story
rear wing.

Fig. 5. (above) The George Trout House— alternate
rear view of original c. 1830 two-story main block and
one-story rear wing. Part of the meathouse is visible
to the right. [Both images: Frances Benjamin John-
ston Collection. Library of Congress.]

and east (side) elevations have no jack arches and are laid in common bond with three- and five-course
intervals. The added two-story front wing is laid in four-course common bond at consistent intervals.

All three parts of the house had matching molded brick cornices (later painted white) and slate-shingled
roofs. Porches wrapping around from the central main block to the front and rear wings appear to have
been early twentieth-century design and construction. The front porch was two stories in height with a
second-floor walkout, the rear porch only one story, with a shed roof. Sheltered by the porches were
four entrances, including the second-floor front walkout. Each ofthe entrances had a lighted transom and
a handsome faux-grained six-panel door. Barred window/vent openings indicate the presence of a full
basement beneath the central main block and the rear wing. [Figs. 4, 5]

25



Fig. 6. The George Trout Farm — c. 7840 two-story secondary dwelling was situated southeast
of the main house. The top of the meathouse is visible to the left. [Virginia Historic Landmarks
Commission survey, 1968.]

Outbuildings

All three domestic outbuildings seen in the photographs also had brick walls and molded brick
cornices matching those of the main house. The two-story secondary dwelling may have held domes-
tic work spaces downstairs and slave quarters upstairs. It appears to have had a two-over-two-room
plan and had chimneys on both ends so that all rooms were heated. Unlike the other buildings on the
property, the brick walls were laid in an uncommon Flemish variant bond. [Fig. 6] The meathouse and
kitchen/quarters had wooden shake roofs. The meathouse stood directly behind the secondary dwelling,
and had a steeply pitched front-gable roof. Like the added front wing ofthe main house, the meathouse
walls were neatly laid in common bond with consistent four-course intervals, which suggests the two
buildings might have been constructed about the same time, by the same brickmasons (quite possibly
Deyerle family members or their slaves). [Fig. 7] The kitchen/quarters had a side-gable roof, walls laid
in common bond (two- and four-course intervals), an exterior chimney on one end and a window in the
opposite end, and two front doors (likely indicating a two-room interior plan). [Fig. 8] Unfortunately,
the Trout Farm is one instance in which Johnston may not have been granted full access, for she did not
photograph any significant interior spaces. Two 1968 photos of the interior are the only ones known to
exist. [Fig. 9]

The Trout House was architecturally significant as a well-appointed Federal-style residence built
circa 1830. The interior featured finely crafted woodwork, much of it skillfully painted with decorative
faux wood graining. The house and contemporary attendant buildings comprised four excellent ex-
amples of domestic building types and period brick masonry with fashionable molded brick cornices, all
highly characteristic of the Valley of Virginia.
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Fig. 7. The George Trout Farm — c. 1840 meathouse
was situated east of the main house. [Frances Benja-
min Johnston Collection. Library of Congress.]

END NOTES

1. http://www.loc.gov/collections/carn-
egie-survey-architecture-of-the-south/
about-this-collection/

See also Frances Benjamin Johnston
Biographical Overview and Chronology,
Prints and Photographs Reading Room,
Library of Congress online: http://www.
loc.gov/rr/print/coll/fbjchron.html

See also the Frances Benjamin Johnston
Collection, 1935-1938. University of
North Carolina Library: http://www2.
lib.unc.edu/ncc/pcoll/inv/PO006/PO006.
html

2. The 1958 HABSI and 1968 Vir-
ginia Historic Landmarks Commission
surveys are held at the Virginia Depart-

Fig. 9. The George Trout House —
one of the two existing interior photos
of the main house. [Virginia Historic
Landmarks Commission survey, 1968.]

ment of Historic Resources archives, Fig. 8. The George Trout Farm — c. 1830 probable kitchen/quar-
Richmond. ters were situated south of the main house. [Frances Benjamin
Johnston Collection. Library of Congress.]
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by Matthew Woods

ither they deny the Negro’s humanity and feel no cause to mea-

sure his actions against civilized norms; or they protect them-

selves from their guilt in the Negro’s condition and from their fear
that their cooks might poison them, or that their nursemaids might strangle
their infant charges, or that their field hands might do them violence, by
attributing to them a superhuman capacity for love, kindliness and forgive-
ness. Nor does this in any way contradict their stereotyped conviction that
all Negroes (meaning those with whom they have no contact) are given to
the most animal behavior.” —Ralph Ellison (1)

From the start of the 17th century, Negroes were transported to America and sold into slavery. (2) Be-
cause of their resentment to these oppressive conditions, some tried to escape captivity by running away
when they thought they could. Even though most slaves found running away very daunting because of
the fear of repercussions if they were caught, the desire for freedom drove them to look for the perfect
opportunity to escape. The Civil War provided the key distraction they needed. Slaves saw the advancing
Union soldiers as their saviors. Benjamin Quarles quotes John H. Ransdell, a Louisiana planter, witness-
ing the coming of Union troops on the plantation he was overseeing and the slave’s reaction to them: (3)

“The arrival ofthe advance of the Yankees alone turned the Negro crazy. For the space of

a week they had a perfectjubilee. Every morning | could see beeves being driven up from

the woods to the quarters — and the number they killed ofthem, to say nothing of sheep

and hogs, it is impossible to tell. The hogs are mostly yours....”

Many slaves knew the war was not being fought with the intention of freeing them, but they did
see the opportunity they were looking for to escape. Though the Fédérais did not realize it at first, the
slaves and the Union had more in common than one could imagine: both desired the destruction ofthe
Confederacy.

Matthew Woods wrote this article as a senior thesis at Ferrum College in 2011. He taught world history at
Bassett High Schoolfor threeyears and earned a master$ degree at Virginia Tech. He is assistantprincipal
at Woodrow Wilson Middle School and a member o fFerrum$ alumni board.
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The Civil War, 1861-1865, between the slave-holding Confederate states ofthe South and the
industrializing Union states of the North, affected the lives of the slaves in two significant ways. First,
many slaves in Confederate territory viewed the war as an opportunity to run away toward Union lines.
Second, the slaves who did not run away found their relationships with their owners changed due to the
war. Historians tend to focus on the fact that slavery was simply abolished as a result of the Civil War
but seem to have forgotten about the effects the war had on the mindset of Negroes who ran away and
the ones that stayed behind. If we can learn about their struggle through those long four years, then we
can hope to understand their mindset in regard to freedom.

The Underground Railroad, for example, was one of the earliest forms of running away (and
one ofthe most successful). It consisted of numerous stations along its path where the runaway slaves
could stay and gain information on where to proceed to next. (4) The “conductors” on the path served
as guides to insure safe passage as well. (5) Though the journey was long, many slaves sang spiritual
hymns to encourage each other along the way:

Bending knees a-aching,
Body racked with pain,
I wished | was a child of God,
I’d get home by and by (6)

If slaves had contact with people in the North, however, and did not want to take such a risky
passage on the Underground Railroad, they could pass as free by the acquisition of “free papers.” Free
papers were used by Negroes to show they had gained legal freedom. These papers usually detailed “the
name, age, color, height and form ofthe free man” that they were describing. (7) Since more than one
man or woman could fit the same general description, many would use the free papers to impersonate
one another and escape to the North.

Though these examples refer to slaves getting many miles away from their oppressors, some on
bigger plantations found easier ways to deal with their conditions. Unbeknownst to many people, slaves
would take turns hiding out in the woods during the day and return to the plantation home right before
nightfall. (8) The beauty of this was that many owners of large plantations did not know every single
one oftheir slaves well enough to tell if one was missing or not. Though some slaves would participate
in hiding out for a few hours, few dared to run away completely because of the fear and uncertainty they
faced in life on their own. Slave owners by this time period encouraged their slaves to breed to make
more children so that they would not have to purchase slaves and assume the risk of importing them
from Africa. As one former slave stated, true “African” Negroes were a hassle for overseers:

“Marse Dave wasn’t mean like some. Sometimes de slaves run away to de woods and

iffen they don’t cotch ’em fust they finally gits hengry and comes home, and then they

gits a hidin’. Some niggers jus’come from Africa and old Marse has to watch ’em close,

’cause they is de ones that mostly runs away to de woods.” (9)

By the time ofthe Civil War however, most slaves had been bom in captivity in the United
States. Albert Jones, for example, was seemingly on his deathbed when interviewed by Thelma Dunston
ofthe Federal Writer’s Project, and at age 96, he recalled being “bom in Souf Hampton county.” (10)
Ties to home and family seem to be the biggest reasons why so few slaves decided to run away. People
always seem to ponder why so many slaves chose not to run away, but fail to consider the disadvantages
and challenges that awaited them in an unfamiliar place.

The concept ofa “runaway slave” in the United States can be traced back to slavery’s beginning
in this country. Some of the earliest signs of slave resentment towards their masters can be seen in their
behavioral patterns. Slaves were often described as “unfaithful, unreliable, lazy and vicious.” Many
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whites recognized such behavior as an indication that slaves were becoming fed up with their lives of
degrading servitude. (11) The open “day-to-day resistance” of slaves was also alarming to slave owners,
who knew that the slaves understood that they would face punishment if caught for their transgressions.
These acts of resistance were never fully documented; however, some ofthe results of such actions were
known to have been broken farm equipment, damaged boats, ruined clothing and anything else the slave
could do to show growing dissatisfaction with captivity. (12) Many white northerners, like Reverend
Samuel J. May, tried warning their southern counterparts that such seemingly minor resistance was only
the beginning and that a “large opportunity” was on the horizon for slaves to make their escape:

“The slaves are men. They have within them that inextinguishable thirst for freedom,

which is bom in man. They are already writhing in their shackles. They will, one day,

throw them offwith vindictive violence, if we do not unloose them.” (13)

This warning, however, seems to have fallen on deaf ears since slavery still remained a staple of
the southern economy. The speech, nevertheless, is significant because it introduced the commonly used
phrase “runaway slave” in reference to Negroes who attempted to escape.

Runaway slaves ranged from “young and old, black and mulatto, healthy and infirm...male and
female.” (14) Although the number of slaves who ran away rose as the Civil War approached, the profile
ofrunaway slaves stayed consistent for more than 60 years. To make the assumption that slaves only
began to ran away during the Civil War would be false, but it is certain that a larger number of slaves
risked their lives to escape servitude during this time period. (15) In the brief clipping below, a South
Carolina planter named E.M. Royall posted a $25 reward in the Charleston Mercury for a slave who ran
away from him. Reading the description enables one to see the trouble that historians have had in finding
characteristics that make mnaway slaves stand out from other slaves:

TWENTY-FIVE DOLLARS REWARD — Ran away from the subscriber’s plantation,

in Christ Church Parish, his Negro Man TONEY. Said fellow is about 5 feet 6 inches in

height; stoutly built, is very black, has a broad, full face, black eyes, and when he laughs,

shows a very white set ofteeth. The above reward will be paid for his apprehension and

delivery to the Work House in Charleston, or to the subscriber on his place. (16)

From vague descriptions like this, runaway slaves seemed indistinguishable from the slaves who
choose to remain in servitude. This is not the case, however, because most runaway slaves displayed
distinctive behavorial problems before they fled.

One would tend to think that a vast amount of slaves ran away, but in actuality it was only a mi-
nority. (17) For example, imagine yourselfon a plane with a bomb that will explode in about 10 seconds
and there is only one parachute left. The dilemma you face is that your family is also on the plane, but
you are the only one who can successfully wear the parachute. Now here is the real question: Do you
save yourself, leaving your family to face the unknown, or do you stay and stick it out with them? This
guestion was one slaves dealt with on a routine basis; should they leave or should they stay. The need
to stay by their loved ones was the main reason why many slaves did not run away. (18) Slaves who ran
away successfully usually faced the fear that their family members might be punished for their transgres-
sion. Successful escapee Nathan McKinney found out upon his escape that his wife had beenjailed and
his child had been reclaimed by his owner. In a desperate attempt to free his family, McKinney wrote a
letter to the federal commander in Louisiana asking for his help:

Neworleans [La.] Febth2 1863
kin Sire I wash to state to you this morning the hole mattor | am in truble and like
Jacob of old and Can not let the go untill you Comford me My wife and felloservant

30



This scene from a 19th century slave huntin Dismal Swamp was painted by
Thomas Moran. (Courtesy of the Virginia Historical Society)

was orded to go yeenkis and they left and went sence that they hav taken them and put
them in prison taken the mother from hire Suckling Child put the mother in and taken the
Child home 1 and my wife and felloservant am not willing to go Back we had Rented
a house and living in it 20 Days then taken if you please Sire gave me a premiai to gat
my wife out of Prison and my things out off his house the no 262 Cannai St mrs George
RuleffReseadents  your most obodent Servent

Problems such as this made slaves think twice about running away, but with Union forces realiz-
ing the help Negroes could provide in repairing the Union, northerners gradually changed their attitudes
towards helping them.

The attack on Fort Sumter on April 12,1861, can be seen not only as the beginning of the Civil
War, but also as the “opportunity” that slaves were looking for. (19) With constant fighting raging be-
tween Union and Confederate forces, the number of white men on plantations dwindled as the need for
more troops increased. Slaves soon realized they vastly outnumbered the whites who remained at home
and took advantage ofthe opportunity to plan escapes. They went about escaping in different ways than
their predecessors did. Numerous cases involving assassination attempts on slave owners and desertion
of plantations upon the Yankees’ arrival were all common during this era. (20) Many slaves felt that if
they offered some sort of “sacrifice” to the Union, they would be allowed to enter Union territory and
freedom. A young South Carolina slave named Robert Smalls was notorious for his daring escape, dur-
ing which he stole a gunboat and gave it to the Union navy as a gift:

One spring night in 1862, when the white officers were sleeping ashore at their homes

in Charleston, Smalls smuggled his wife, his children, his sister-in-law, and his brother’s

wife and child aboard at midnight. He fired the boiler, hoisted the Confederate flag and
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just before dawn steamed out to the open sea. There he hauled down the Confederate col-
ors and hoisted a white flag oftruce as he came within sight of the blockade vessels ofthe
United States Navy... Congress voted Smalls a sizable sum of money for his contraband
and Lincoln signed the appropriation. (21)

Instead of slaves following the irrational impulse of “running away towards freedom,” they used
well-thought out strategies like this one not only to escape but also to further cripple the Confederacy.

With the issuance ofthe Emancipation Proclamation on “midnight of the last day of 1862,” the
Union formally recognized Negro people as being equals. (22) This was done, however, as a military
ploy to further weaken the Confederacy. Union forces used slaves’willingness to join their ranks to re-
plenish their manpower. (23) Negroes however, saw this as their opportunity to prove themselves to the
Union. Famous black abolitionist Frederick Douglass argued that the Negro as a soldier would help lay
the foundation for Negroes to become equal citizens as well:

“Once let the black man get upon his person the brass letters, U.S.; let him get an eagle

on his button, and a musket on his shoulder and bullets in his pocket, and there is no

power on earth which can deny that he has earned the right to citizenship in the United

States.” (24)

It is estimated that at least 38,000 Negro soldiers died trying to repair the Republic and to end the
tyranny of slavery. (25) Though the Union forces and the Negroes were fighting for different purposes,
they found common ground in their fight against the Confederacy.

Servants, be obedient to them that are your masters.
— Ephesians 6:5

Though some Negroes wanted nothing more than to escape as soon as possible, some were more
than willing to wait until the war was over to gain their freedom. (26) Nannie Bradfield of Uniontown,
Alabama, laughed at the question ofbeing happy at the possibility of gaining her freedom:

“What I keer ’bout bein’ free? Didn’t old Marster give us plenty good sompin to eat and

clo’s to wear? | stayed on de plantation ’till | mah’ied. My old Miss give me a brown

dress and hat. Well dat dress put me in de country, if you mahie in brown you’ll live in de

country.” (27)

Another unnamed slave in South Carolina also stressed the distaste fellow slaves he knew had in
being “free”:

“De slaves, where | lived, knowed after de war dat they had abundance of dat somethin’

called freedom, what they could not, wear, and sleep in. Yes, sir, they soon found out dat

freedom ain’t nothin’, ‘less you is got somethin’to live on and a place to call home. Dis

livin’on liberty is lak young folks livin’on love after they gits married. Itjust don’t work.

No, sir, it las’so long and not a bit longer. Don’t tell me! It sho’don’t hold good when

you has to work, or when you gits hongry.” (28)

The refusal of some slaves to express joy at gaining freedom is difficult to comprehend for those
ofus who enjoy our daily freedoms to say and do whatever we would like as long as it does not harm
or offend anyone else. Depending on where the slave was located, he or she may have been living very
comfortably compared to others and did not want to join in the fighting. When slaves heard of their
upcoming liberation from slavery, many wondered what it would be like. Charlie Davenport, like many
other slaves, responded with enthusiasm at the news of his possible freedom:

032 o



“I was right smart bit by de freedom bug for awhile. It sounded pow’ful nice to be tol’:
“You can th’ow dat hoe down an’go fishin’ whensoever de notion strikes you. An’you
can roam ’roun’at night an’ court galsjus’as you please. Aint no marster gwine a-say

to you, ‘Charlie, you’s got to be back when de clock strikes nine.” | was fool ’nough to
b’lieve all dat kin’ o’ stuff.” (29)

After much thought however, Charlie, like other slaves, became scared of the uncertainty they
would face when freed. (30)

Slaves who wanted to remain in their “familiar surroundings” found it extremely difficult to
maintain the trust of their masters due to the strong suspicions of rebellion to which they had been
subject during the war. Nervous slave masters began moving their slaves from plantation to plantation
in an attempt to avoid the Yankees, even if the slaves proclaimed their loyalty to their masters. (31) No
matter what the slaves would say, the slave owners, at the end ofthe day, viewed them as “property” and
wanted to keep them at all costs.

Although slavery was considered a “south-
ern thing,” it is an unfair assumption to label
every southerner as a slave owner, or state that
every northerner wanted Negroes to be free.
Slavery, at its core, was an economic institution
set up to make money, and anything else at-
tributed to the institution was added on to it and
nonessential. (32) Slave owners during the war
started to realize that slavery was coming to an
end, and that the days of “whips and shackles”
had long passed. New alternatives sprang up to
keep slaves obedient. Masters turned to offering
wages to “secure the services of the Slaves” and
to keep them from running away. (33) Though
these arrangements worked for awhile, all they
did was buy time before the Union crushed the
life out of the institution of slavery in the United
States

In comparing the mindsets of Negroes who
ran away and Negroes who stayed in captivity,
it is presumptuous to think that they were dif-
ferent just because of their circumstances. The
two groups had different ideologies and perspec-
tives of freedom. But to say that one group was

right and the other wrong is absurd. The totality of a Negro’s life determined his mindset. Being a slave
can be viewed as the most dehumanizing affliction in the world. An ex-slave named Georgina Giwbs
recalled a story that her father told her which sums up the evil destructiveness slavery can cause upon a
human being and how it can dramatically shatter someone’s psyche:

“My father told me ders wuz once a mastah who sold a slave woman and her son. Many

years after dis, de woman married. One day when she wuz washing her husband’s back

she seen a scar on his back. De woman membered de scar. It wuz de scar her mastah had

put on her son. "Course dey didn’t stay married, but de woman wouldn’t ever let her son

leave her.” (34)
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Though this example is extremely graphic (and rare in its nature), it underlines the evil that slav-
ery infuses and how it can ruin relationships and lives.

Having to serve someone all day and do what they say while ignoring your own needs must have
been difficult. Try to imagine how the slaves during this time felt. One cannot find it hard to imagine
why numerous slaves ran away during the Civil War or to recognize the issues they faced while trying
to escape their captivity. The fears that crowded the slaves’ minds and the uncertanity always present in
their daily lives must have been a scary realization to them.

Will it be possible for anyone to ever be able to really understand the sincere desire for freedom
that the slaves really sought after? Will we ever be able to capture in words the pain that their bodies felt
from the extreme heat and the sharp thorns that ripped their flesh while at the same time they were being
mistaken for the common stereotype “they all look alike?” The slaves ran as fast as they could or stayed
behind and waited for the golden opportunity to get relief from the oppressor and to seek out any means
of escape into a free world.

Sometimes | feel discouraged,
And think my work’s in vain.
— African American spiritual
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Tlhavuf, Pie& tdeaui fave vc&ctect Y<zMey

by Sandra Brown Kelly

itting U.S. presidents have come to visit the

Roanoke Valley by horse, train, car and plane,

he mode oftravel more linked to the prog-
ress oftransportation than to any personal choice.
Thirteen of them visited, beginning with George
Washington, and if you throw in some who visited
before or after being in office, and include some
vice presidents, the total rises appreciably.

The Roanoke Times on July 13, 2012,
reported that 11 sitting presidents had visited the
Roanoke Valley. The Salem Museum in “A Guide
to Historic Salem, Summer 2000,” credited 10
presidents with having visited Salem, including
some not on the Times’ list. No doubt there are oth-
ers as Woodrow Wilson should have, considering
his wife Edith Bolling was from Wytheville. What
information does exist offers rich details about the
ways of life in various times and also brings up
that ever lingering, much touted rivalry — real or
imagined — between Roanoke and Salem.

Mention ofthe rivalry emerged during the
most lavish visit of a sitting president, Franklin
D. Roosevelt’s trip to the Valley on Oct. 19,1934.
Roosevelt, who served from 1933-1945, came to
dedicate the Veterans Administration Hospital in
Salem. According to Norwood C. Middleton’s “Salem: A Virginia Chronicle,” Salem really fancied up along
the planned route for the motorcade from the train station in Roanoke to the Salem dedication site. Accord-
ing to Middleton, plantings in the median along Boulevard Street “were groomed and curbing installed.”
Federal dollars also helped pay for a widening and paving of a portion of Eighth Street (312-313).

When the President and his dignitaries arrived around 4 p.m., some 40,000 people waited at the hos-
pital site, but such enthusiasm did not offset a Salem newspaper’s editorial that “deplored” the fact that in
his dedication speech Roosevelt gave no “mention of Salem, even as ajoint host with Roanoke” (312, 313).
Still, it was quite a party. Various accounts, including information accompanying a photo of the event on
the Historical Society of Western Virginia’s Digital Museum site, put full attendance for the event at 85,000
people. The Roanoke museum account also noted that the president arrived in town on a “private seven-car

President Franklin Delano Roosevelt visited the
Roanoke Valley in 1934 to dedicate the Veterans
Administration Hospital.

Sandra Brown Kelly is a graduate of Virginia Western Community College and holds bachelor$ and master $
degreesfrom Hollins University. She retired in 1999 after more than 30years as a reporter and editorfor

the Roanoke Times and now serves as adjunctfaculty at Virginia Western and operates SBK Inc., writing and
editing.
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train” and then rode in a “Packard Phaeton” to Salem. Roanoke’s History Museum has a photo of the train
menu for the day, which included offerings of shrimp, oysters, tenderloin of trout, roast beef, chicken, cold
Virginia Smithfield ham and steamed fig pudding, for $1.25.

The earliest link to a president (or president-to-be) visiting the area is 1756, before Salem was
founded in 1802 and chartered as a town in Botetourt County in 1806, and well before the existence of Roa-
noke, chartered as Big Lick in 1874 and as the town of Roanoke in 1882. George Washington, who became
president in 1789, traveled in the area while an officer in the colonial army on an inspection tour of frontier
forts when he was only 24. He stopped overnight at what became Big Lick on Oct. 13,1756, lodging at the
home of Widow Evans, according to “Kegley’s Virginia Frontier.” That likely was Rhoda Evans, widow of
Daniel Evans, who operated a mill near present Carilion Roanoke Memorial Hospital. His bill was 3 shil-
lings, according to his expense account. (242)

Thomas Jefferson traveled from Poplar Forest, his Bedford County home, across the mountain at
the Peaks of Otter to visit the spa at Warm Springs but no documentation of a Roanoke Valley visit has been
found, according to Gene Crotty, a Botetourt County historian. Crotty said Falling Spring, near Covington,
was the farthest western point in the travels of Jefferson, the man responsible for the huge Louisiana Pur-
chase of western lands.

Plenty is known of Andrew Jackson’s experiences in the area, however. He visited before he became
president and while he was in office, traveling between the capital and his Tennessee home, the Hermitage.
None of his visits were official though. One letter that Jackson wrote to a Fincastle lawyer was penned at
a Salem “tavern, the Mermaid.” “Salem: A Virginia Chronicle” notes the letter was dated July 2,1807, and
wasn’t mailed until July 7, “which could underscore the irregularity of stage service.” Middleton’s book
also shares the contents of a letter Jackson wrote in 1834, five years after he became president, explaining
he had been delayed in getting to Abingdon because of “rain & intolerable bad roads...” and a “severe attack
ofbilious collick that detained me three days at Doctor Johnstons [cq] near Salem.” He was again at the
doctor’s house in 1936 when he wrote his son, Andrew Jackson Jr., that “in the Streets of Salum [cqg]” his
carriage “broke a swingle tree and the foreaxes” (Middleton, 36-42).

Came First as Soldiers

Two men who became president, Rutherford B. Hayes and William McKinley, were first in the area as part
ofthe Union Army at the Battle of Hanging Rock (Salem) in June 1864. Both later returned while president.

According to Middleton, Hayes visited four months into his presidency, in 1877, as part of a “19-day
goodwill tour” of five states. According to a description credited to The Fincastle Herald newspaper, Hayes
“lifted his silk hat, and got ready to make a speech,” but no one in the crowd acknowledged him because
they had not seen it. Finally, a student greeted him, and Hayes said “good morning,” and after a silent period
asked, “What county is Salem in?” When answers came back “Roanoke,” Hayes asked the audience if this
is the Roanoke River and eventually introduced Secretary of State William M. Evarts. The Roanoke College
magazine, The Roanoke Collegian, quoted the president as saying: “1recollect passing through here once
before, but under less favorable circumstances,” a reference to having been at Hanging Rock where he was
a colonel in charge ofthe First Brigade ofthe 23rd Ohio Infantry. He made no speech and the train moved
on (130-131).

In between Hayes and McKinley, the area got a quick visit from President Benjamin Harrison. The
Benjamin Harrison Presidential Website notes that railroads greatly expanded presidential visits and goes on
to detail President Harrison’s transcontinental trek through 19 states in spring 1891. The trip included a stop
in Roanoke on April 14,1891, where Harrison supposedly said a few words.

The visit by President Harrison was recorded in The Roanoke Times of April 15,1891, in a lengthy
story that describes many individual encounters between the chiefexecutive and citizens of the city. As the
train pulled into Union Station and came to a stop, the President received a “hearty cheer,” then onlookers
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began to press in to shake hands with him. Then calls came for the President to provide a speech, which

he did at length. The President told the crowd he was glad to be in the state of his father and congratulated
those attending on the vigorous level of economic development he had observed in Virginia. The President’s
party included John Wanamaker, the retail titan who was planning a store for Roanoke. According to the
newspaper story, two young Norfolk and Western messenger boys had climbed to the top ofthe rail station,
where they gained his attention after some effort when one ofthem tipped the brim of his hat. The President
looked up, the story says, and took their hands (“The Jaunt Through Virginia™”). Harrison was president from
1889-1893.

M cKinley D rew Thousands

Nine years later, according to Raymond P. Barnes’ “History
ofthe City of Roanoke,” President William McKinley’s
train stopped briefly on April 29, 1901, at Union Station

in Roanoke and drew crowds that made the streets look
like “those during the carnival,” a surprise for an area with
Democratic leanings in politics, the account states. Barnes
offers this account: “Redman and Machine Works bands
were on hand to add to the clamor. Men and women fought
like maniacs to shake his hand, trampling on children in
their mad rush.” Oddly enough, there was no official on
hand to greet McKinley, the account states. McKinley was
traveling in his private railcar, “Olympia,” which Barnes
quotes a reporter as describing as a “handsome affair.” The
President was barely into his second term, and that same
year he was fatally wounded by an assassin, Leon Czol-
gosz, during a visit to Buffalo, New York (359).

Roanoke citizens offered an enthusiastic
greeting to President McKinley and Party
when he visited the Star City. [Copyright
1901 by Underwood and Underwood.]

Lavish Welcome for Vice President

On October 23,1907, Theodore Roosevelt arrived by train in Roanoke with no plans reported for the train
to make a stop. Stop it did, when the station platform and the rail yard were flooded with people wanting

to see the President. Roosevelt stood on the rear platform ofthe train as it came to a stop. He was return-

ing to Washington after a big hunting trip to Mississippi. The president of the Roanoke Chamber of Com-
merce had telegraphed Roosevelt and asked him to describe in his speech here “how he killed the bear.” The
Roanoke Times story of April 24 described his voice as somewhat hoarse, but that did not prevent him from
applauding the material prosperity represented by Virginia’s agriculture and manufacturing plants. As for the
bear, he said he didn’t have the time to talk about it, but he was reported as delighted at the reception given
him by the citizens and dignitaries of Roanoke (“Mr. Roosevelt Visits Roanoke”).

Outside of Franklin Roosevelt’s visit to the area, the area’s most social encounter came with Wood-
row Wilson’s vice president. According to the Historical Society of Western Virginia, on May 4,1914, Vice
President Thomas R. Marshall visited the Roanoke Valley along with his wife. The couple was lavishly
entertained at “Cocke-Spur,” the home of Lucian Hayward Cocke and Sarah (Johnson) Hagan Cocke. The
event was reported in the May 5, 1914, issue of The Roanoke Times and photographs ofthe event are in a
scrapbook in the archives ofthe History Museum of Western Virginia. The Marshalls stayed at Kern CIiff,
the summer home of U.S. Senator and Mrs. John W. Kern of Indiana; the home was in the Carvins Cove
area. (Cocke-Spur) Kern was an unsuccessful vice presidential candidate in 1908.
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Chronologically, the next
visit associated with a president
came when then Hollywood actor
Ronald Reagan came to Salem’s
General Electric Plant in 1957 on
a public relations tour for the “GE
Theatre” TV program he hosted.
His visit was documented in an
article compiled for The Roanoker
magazine by the Historical Society
of Western Virginia (Historical
Society of Western Virginia. “One
Year in Roanoke: 19577).
The next presidential visit
came from Lyndon B. Johnson
(1963-1969), who spoke upon
arrival at the now Roanoke-
Blacksburg Regional Airport on Vice presidents came to Roanoke too. Here are guests at Cocke-
May 23, 1964, and introduced “the Spur, the Orchard Hill home of Lucian and Sarah Hagan Cocke
senior Senator from Virginia, my before a May 4, 1914, reception for. Vice Presidgnt Thomas R. and
old longtime friend, Harry Byrd.” L0_|s Marshall. From left, front: Mattie Co_cke, Lois Marshall, Ara-
Johnson then mentioned he and mlnta_ Kern and C. Francis Cocke. Stanldlng, from left: Col. Alfred
his group would “have a chance to B. W|II|ams., Mary Stqart Cocke Good.wm, Harry St. George Tucker,
Frances Mingea, Lucian H. Cocke, Vice President Thomas Mar-
;2[?3 by the fence and say hello to shall and Sarah Hagan Cocke.

On March 31,1976, a
campaigning Jimmy Carter visited Roanoke for a short talk at what was then the Roanoke Civic Center and
meetings with the editorial staff of The Roanoke Times and World-News newspapers, and leaders from the
African American community. A newspaper article on the visit quotes the Rev. Charles T. Green, a former
president ofthe Roanoke NAACP, as saying Carter made a “favorable impression” on some 15 leaders who
were at that meeting. Carter returned on Sept. 23 after his election to campaign for Henry Howell.

Another Carter visit came on Sept 24, 1977, when Carter flew from Andrews Air Force Base to
Roanoke, according to “The Daily Diary of President Jimmy Carter.” He was met by Henry E. Howell Jr.,
Democratic candidate for governor of Virginia; also in the welcoming committee was Roanoke Mayor Noel
C. Taylor. He then traveled to the Roanoke Civic Center (now Berglund Center) where he viewed a portrait
done by Lenore Holsveig. He was gone by 3:42 p.m., heading to a similar event in Norfolk.

Came Before Being E lected

On Nov. 4,1960, John F. Kennedy campaigned in Roanoke and was interviewed by then WDBJ-radio
news director Forrest (“Frosty”) Landon. The interview was captured on film by WDBJ-TV, which quoted
Landon as noticing: “And that was showing on the right hand of Kennedy, a band-aid [cq] that obviously
was there to protect what was left of his hand after a long arduous campaign.” The New York Times News
Service reported that Kennedy, who arrived on his private plane, The Caroline, had to be rescued from a
telephone booth where he was calling his brother, Robert. A woman gave him “a silvery set of good luck
horseshoes,” read the New York Times news account. The Richmond Times-Dispatch noted Kennedy drew
up to 25,000 people.

An account of Kennedy’s visit in “Television News ofthe Civil Rights Era 1950-1970” points out:
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“The theme of Kennedy’s speech was straightforward: ‘Virginia should not vote Republican.” Kennedy said
Virginia is the home of Thomas Jefferson’s Democratic Party, and thus, it could not afford to elect Richard
Nixon as President of the United States.” Two times during Kennedy’s talk, aircraft noise was really loud.
The first time it happened, Kennedy said, “Goodbye, Dick,” referring to Nixon leaving. The second noise
occasion prompted: “There are more Republicans leaving town today than ever.”

Nixon Visited Several Times

Richard Nixon visited the Valley multiple times, twice before becoming president and once during his term,
Oct. 28, 1969. On that visit, President Nixon spoke at 7:48 p.m. at what was then Woodrum Airport in Roa-
noke and later at the then Salem-Roanoke Valley Civic Center, (now Salem Civic Center) on behalf ofthe
gubernatorial campaign of Roanoke resident Linwood Holton.

Nixon noted that “coming back to this state and to this city and to this part ofthis state is a very
heartwarming thing for me. 1 only wish that my wife could be here with me. She was with me on all the
previous occasions, but for the last two days she has been down in bed with the flu bug. But she sends her
very best and knows that the ‘Ladies for Lin’are going to come through for Holton. Finally, as | will say a
little later at the rally downtown, generally a President does not find it possible to go into all ofthe contests
and all ofthe campaigns that he would like to. This is the first time that | have made an appearance since
becoming President of the United States in behalfofa candidate. And | am proud that it is in behalfofLin
Holton....”

Later at the Salem-Roanoke Valley Civic Center, Nixon made no mistake about where he was - un-
like Roosevelt when he came to the VA hospital dedication. Nixon said: “l know | am in Salem, incidentally,
and not in Roanoke. | can assure you that it is a great honor to be here, to have this wonderful welcome, to
remember the time that | was here in 1960 with one ofthe largest — according to Dick Poflf, the largest —
political crowd that had ever been gathered in this part ofthe state, either before or since.” (Poff, who died
in 2011, was a native of Radford and as a congressman represented a Western Virginia district that included
Roanoke.)

Nixon was also in Roanoke on Sept. 15,1960, while he was vice president. The Chicago Tribune re-
ported a crowd of 14,000 greeted him at Victory Stadium (the city’s former football stadium) where actress
Helen Hayes described Nixon as a “crusader against atheistic communism ... and a band played ‘Dixie’ as
Nixon and his wife appeared on the platform.” (Edwards)

Certainly, too, Nixon was a shadow in the background in Roanoke on July 19,1974, when then
Vice President Gerald Ford campaigned here with Congressman M. Caldwell Butler. At a press conference,
Ford said, “I will not predicate my appearance or attendance in a Congressional District because a person
votes for or against the President. | respect the independent views of any congressman, including this one.”
(Nightly News 7-20-1974)

At the time, Butler was a first-term Republican representative who announced on July 25, 1974, that
he would vote to impeach Nixon and “wept after he voted” on July 27, according to Butler’s obituary in the
New York Times. (Martin) President Nixon resigned on Aug. 9,1974, and Ford became president.

Flight Stopovers for Bushes

Neither Bush officially visited the Roanoke Valley, but George H.W. passed through. According to The Ro-
anoke Times’July 13, 2012, article, Bush flew into the Roanoke airport in May 1990, on his way to speak
at Liberty University in Lynchburg. His son had a similar habit ofjust passing through, according to that
article by Mason Adams. George W. Bush came to the Roanoke airport on June 6,2001, on his way to the
dedication ofthe National D-Day Memorial in Bedford. He was back on April 17,2002, enroute to speak at
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Virginia Military Institute, and on April 17, 2007, came into the Valley on his way to speak at Virginia Tech,
which had suffered the loss of more than 30 students from a gunman’s rampage on April 16. (Adams)

President Obama Latest Visitor

President Barack Obama filled the downtown City Market area when he spoke July 13,2012, at Roanoke
Fire Station #1. “Hello, Roanoke! It is good to be back in Roanoke! Good to be back in Virginia. Back in
the Star City,” he told the crowd. Obama had campaigned in Roanoke on Oct. 17, 2008. (Office ofthe Press
Secretary)

Obama’s 2008 visit drew 8,000-plus to the Roanoke Civic Center, according to The Roanoke Times.
The candidate also visited the Total Elegance Salon on Jefferson Street. The newspaper reported that his
visit represented the “first time a major party candidate has visited Roanoke during the general election
since Sen. John F. Kennedy made a stop at the Roanoke Regional Airport on Nov. 4, 1960, during his race
against then-Vice President Richard Nixon.” (Adams and Johnson)
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lived in Henry County where they were free before the Civil War, but their daughter-in-law, Eliza
Wade, wife of Peter Jumper Jr. and great-great-grandmother of the First Lady, was a slave.
Mrs. Obama’s ancestry and information about the Jumpers is explored in “American Tapestry:
The Story ofthe Black, White and Mixed Ancestors of Michelle Obama” by Rachel L. Swams, a re-
porter for the New York Times for almost 20 years. The book was published by Amistad, an imprint of
HarperCollins Publishers in 2012.
An excerpt from the book follows:

F irst Lady Michelle Obama’s great-great-great-grandparents, Peter Jumper Sr. and Dolly Jumper,

It was that hunger for freedom that drew
Dolly and Peter Jumper, Mrs. Obama’s great-
great-great-grandparents to the courthouse in
Henry County, Virginia, in 1866. Dolly and
Peter had been free before the war, but the
North’s victory opened the doors to a kind of
liberty they had never known. So on a winter
day in February 1866, they joined hundreds of
other African American couples in front of the
two-story brick building. There were former
slaves and people whose families had been free
for generations, elderly couples with salt-and-
pepper hair, and young lovers brimming with
the giddiness of first-found romance. They were
lining up because federal officials were legal-
izing the marriages of African Americans for the very first time. Dolly and Peter had lived together
for thirty-five years by then. She was about fifty-three and he was about sixty-six. They may have
been hobbled by arthritis, with graying hair and aching limbs, but they were determined to imbue
their relationship with the formal recognition ofthe state. (Although as free people they had the
right to marry even before the war, some free African Americans chose to cohabitate rather than to
invite unwelcome attention from the white authorities responsible for handling marriage licenses.)
So the Jumpers took their turn amid the crowds. And when their moment came, they stood before
a federal official who took up pen and paper and wrote down their names and ages, adding those
oftheir children as well, and the year that they had first lived together as husband and wife. By
the time the registration was through, 603 couples— 12 ofwhom were free before the war—had
enshrined their relationships in that courthouse, and Dolly and Peter were able to savor freedom’s
fullness in a way they never could before. They had never lived as slaves .but they had been denied
many ofthe basic rights that whites took for granted. For them, freedom meant finally receiving
official acknowledgement of the precious and invisible bonds oftheir family, formal recognition as

This is an excerptfrom pp.289-91 (910 words)from “American Tapestry: The Story of the Black, White and
Mixed Ancestors of Michelle Obama” by Rachel L. Swams. Copyright © 2012 by Rachel L. Swams. Reprint-
ed by permission ofHarperCollins Publishers. Image: iStock Photo

42 o



a committed couple and devoted parents.

No eyewitness accounts have emerged of that day in Henry County, but similar scenes played
out across the country as African Americans wept and rejoiced as they turned up by the thousands
to enshrine their relationships under the cloak of law. “I praise God for this day!” one black sol-
dier declared after learning that Virginia would recognize the relationships between slaves. “I have
long been praying for it.” White missionaries and army officers, who had assumed that slavery had
destroyed family ties among African Americans, watched with astonishment at the outpouring of
enthusiasm for the institution of marriage. In one Mississippi military camp alone, a chaplain mar-
ried 119 black couples in a single ceremony. “One of the most touching features of our work was
the eagerness with which colored men and women availed themselves ofthe opportunities offered
them to legalize unions already formed, some of which had been in existence for a long time.”

Former slaves, then, were not the only African Americans who benefited from Emancipation.
Blacks who had been free before the war—many of whom had experience working for wages,
some education and some means—were particularly well poised to seize the widening opportuni-
ties opening up for African Americans as they began taking their seats in county commissions, in
state legislatures, and in Congress. This group accounted for only about 11 percent ofthe black
population in 1860, but they would occupy a far larger share of political positions. Between 1869
and 1900, at least 10 of the 22 blacks who served in Congress had been free before the Civil War.
In Virginia, where the Jumpers lived, 43 ofthe 102 blacks who held state office were free before
Emancipation.

The Jumpers and the Motens were illiterate and never became part ofthe African American elite.
But when slavery ended both families had some money on hand and some experience negotiating
with whites for wages. Nelson Moten, who had escaped to freedom in the Civil War, had managed
to acquire personal possessions worth $200 by the time he was in his forties. Which made him one
ofthe more prosperous black men in his rural community of Villa Ridge, Illinois. His daughter,
Phoebe, would learn to read and write and would carry the family line to Chicago. In Virginia,
Dolly and Peter Jumper, who were bom free, could afford the help of a young woman who cooked
for them as they settled into old age. Their son, Peter Jr., would exemplify the social changes
rapidly transforming the postslave society. When it came time to marry, he picked a bride who had
been bom in servitude, bridging the long-standing divide between those who had been slaves and
those who were bom free.

Yet even as the Jumpers and the Motens saw the world change in ways they could never have
imagined before the Civil War, they still fell short of fulfilling the dream held so dearly by most
African Americans. They never earned enough h money to buy any land. Nelson Moten and Peter
Jumper Sr. would both die as sharecroppers. Mary Moten died in Villa Ridge, Illinois and Nelson
probably died there too, though no record of his death has survived. It appears that the Jumpers
spent their last days amid the green hills of southern Virginia, the state where they were bom free.
Their final resting place has yet to be found.

According to “American Tapestry,” the genealogy of Michelle Obama is as follows:

Her mother is Marian Shields, daughter of Rebecca Jumper/Coleman and Purnell Shields. Rebecca
Jumper/Coleman was the daughter of Eliza Tinsley and Jim Jumper. Jumper was the son of Peter Jumper
Jr. and Eliza Wade. Peter Jumper Jr. was the son of Peter Jumper Sr. and Dolly Jumper. Mrs. Obama
descended from the Moten family through her father, Fraser Robinson Ill, according to the book.
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by Walter Dixon

n 2006, two friends and | bought a mountain farm in western Virginia, with extensive hayfields,

clear streams, upland pastures and forests of century-old timber. Known locally as “The Carters,” (1)

it had remained in the same Persinger family for well over 200 years. Posted at the entrance was a
sign designating the property a “Bicentennial Farm.”

There was a farmhouse — in serious disrepair — perched on the edge of a cliffabove a small
river with the Rich Patch Mountains beyond. Clustered nearby were various outbuildings: a large dark
bam, a granary and smokehouse, and several other structures of ill-defined usage. The homeplace and
surrounding acreage were part ofa 110-acre King’s grant to one James Williams, dated 1772 , lying on
Potts Creek in Augusta County (now Alleghany), Virginia. (2)

In 1777 Williams sold the property to Jacob Persinger, (3) a 61-year-old Swiss-German immi-
grant, who divided the land between his two sons, Christopher and Jacob Jr. (4) Over the years both sons
and their descendants bought more land and continued farming operations on neighboring tracts.

“The Carters” sparked our interest in Jacob Persinger, the original purchaser, who in 1750
brought the Persinger name to Virginia. He lived during a tumultuous time in American history.

About the time Jacob arrived in Pennsylvania, German and Swiss-German immigrants from
Pennsylvania, followed by the Scotch-Irish, had begun moving out of the colony into Virginia through
the Shenandoah Valley in search ofnew lands for settlement. During the next few years the trickle of
migrants became a stream, alarming the Indians of the Ohio River valley and their French allies. As the
number of new settlements increased, a clash became inevitable; and from 1753 to 1764, violent conflict
— beginning with the French and Indian War, followed by the Cherokee War, and ending with Pontiac’s
rebellion — disrupted settlement and temporarily depopulated large portions ofthe Shenandoah Valley.

France’s bid for empire was halted in 1760 with its surrender at Montreal. The Revolutionary
period followed, and independence was assured in 1781 with the Continental Army victorious over the
British at Yorktown, ushering in the National period ofthe United States of America.

As a young man leaving his native land to seek his fortune in a new, untamed land, Jacob Pers-
inger was a risk taker. Chastened by tragedy in middle age, he lived his later years generously and con-
servatively, as you would expect from a prudent Switzer.

Following is his biography, as best we can reconstruct it from court house records, historical
reports, and personal letters and reflections.

Walter Dixon is a student o fhistory and a retired investment banker.
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Home built by Jacob PersingerJr., ca. 1778.

JACOB PERDSHENGER (5)

The Immigrant

Jacob Persinger arrived at the port of Philadelphia 29 May 1735 aboard the English Ship Mercury,
originating from Rotterdam. He was 19 years old, unmarried and had left his home in Zumikon, a small
farming village near Zurich, eight months earlier with a large colony of Swiss emigrants. They were
heading for America and the so-called “Carolina Island.”

At that time emigration was considered a crime in Switzerland and was punishable as such. It
was equivalent to desertion, a deliberate shirking of one’s obvious duty to the Fatherland. The loss of
sturdy hands meant fewer for arms and trade, fewer soldiers. Beginning in November 1734, increasingly
severe edicts forbidding emigration were published; property sales by emigrants were prohibited, and
agents distributing literature encouraging emigration were punishable. Zurich was especially energetic in
denouncing and penalizing emigration. (6)

It was a time of severe economic distress in Switzerland, and conditions were unbearable for the
underclasses, with no hope of improvement. Many had lost their fathers in the wars fought by the great
powers, which often pitted Swiss mercenaries against each other. (7)
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We don’t know the exact circumstances resulting in Jacob’s decision to emigrate, but economic
hardship and lack of hope for improvement probably were most significant. His parents may have died
and his prospects appeared dismal. Also, we can be reasonably assured that religious persecution was not
a consideration. The German Reform church — Jacob’s church — was quite strong in northern Switzer-
land.

The group ofnearly 200 country folk departed Zurich 4 October 1734, having endured much
pressure from the city fathers to abandon their plan. “Many thousands saw them depart with great pity
for them, especially because they were undertaking so thoughtlessly, with wife and child, but poorly
provided for, the dangerous journey of 300 hours in cold, rain and wind, now, when the days are getting
shorter.” (8)

The group traveled on the Rhine by river boat, through harsh weather and dangerous condi-
tions, to Rotterdam. In Rotterdam their leader, Rev. Maurice Goetschy, for personal reasons of his own,
changed their destination from Carolina to Pennsylvania. (9) From Holland they sailed to the Isle of
Wight where they took on provisions for the long voyage to America. After storms and delays, and much
discomfort, the group, now 143 persons, arrived in Pennsylvania four months later. (10)

Traveling as a Swiss colony, Jacob and the others likely made their way from the ship to the
German-speaking settlement near Goshenhoppen Reformed Church northwest of Philadelphia. His ulti-
mate destination was the Tulpehocken River Valley in the Blue Mountain foothills near Reading.

Jacob married Rebecca soon after his arrival. Their first child, Anna Maria, was bom ca. 1736,
and first son, Abraham, the following year. Other children came along fairly quickly: Phillip 1739, Jo-
hann Christian 1741, (11) Catherine 1745, Jacob Jr., 1749, all bom in Pennsylvania; Paul 1751, and three
younger unnamed children were all bom in Virginia. (12)

Around 1749 Jacob Persinger packed up his young family and trekked south through the Shenan-
doah Valley on the Great Road to where it crossed James River at modern-day Buchanan. He then
picked up a trail to the west, his destination being the Greenbrier River Valley in (West) Virginia.

Jacob probably was attracted to this region by the Greenbrier Land Company which in 1749 had been
granted 100,000 acres, on condition that it settle one family for each thousand acres. Andrew Lewis was
the agent and surveyor. (13) Jacob bought a 185-acre tract on Spring Lick Creek, which flowed into the
Greenbrier River. He likely lived there with his family and worked the land prior to acquiring it in 1751
from the original owner, an orphan named Christopher Landers. (14)

The Persinger Family in Augusta County

By 1753 about 50 families had settled along the creek tributaries ofthe Greenbrier Valley. However,
sporadic incursions by Indians had begun. British General Edward Braddock arrived in 1754 with a
large army, and hope was running high that the General would settle the score once and for all with the
French and provide protection from the Indians. In the event, on 9 June 1755, as Braddock and his army
approached Fort Duquesne (Pittsburgh), the French and their Indian allies attacked. The British soldiers
were unable to defend themselves against the hit-and-run Indian tactics; Braddock suffered a disastrous
defeat and was Killed. The sole surviving colonel, Thomas Dunbar, led the demoralized army in retreat
all the way back to Philadelphia into winter quarters, even though it was only July. Thus, the Virginia
and Pennsylvania frontiers were laid open and unprotected.

Indian tribes allied with the French descended on isolated plantations with violence and blood-
shed. In Augusta a full scale Indian attack on the Greenbrier rocked the area. More than two dozen set-
tlers were killed or captured and taken to Shawnee towns across the Ohio River. Jacob and most others
fled east from their Greenbrier farms to more settled and secure regions of Virginia.
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Virginia Backcountry during Indian Wars 1743-1765.

Jacob thought they had found safety in the tiny community of Hooks Mill in what is now Allegh-
any County. (15) He found work operating a grist mill located at the head of Roaring Run, a picturesque
mountain stream that tumbles eastward down the mountain to join Craig Creek. Indian troubles con-
tinued in other areas of the Virginia backcountry, but the Persingers’ mountain home seemed relatively
secure.

However, the Indians struck unexpectedly near Roaring Run. Beginning on 11 September 1756,
and continuing for four days, more than 200 Shawnee and Delaware Indians attacked settlers’
homesteads, “committing Outrages every minute, Killing Horses and Cattle, and burning the Houses
of poor People....” (16)

The Persinger farm did not escape the violence. According to one account, a war party of about
20 Delawares crossed the Jackson River near Covington and camped for the night near Low Moor. The
next day they arrived at the Persinger farm. It was late summer, mid-September 1756. They attacked
during the day when Jacob and his three older sons — Abraham, Phillip and Christian — were away.
Jacob’s wife Rebecca and two younger sons, Jacob Jr. and Paul, were taken prisoner. The three young-
est Persinger children — infants or toddlers — were too young to make the arduous trip across the Ohio
River to the Indian towns, and so were Killed on the spot. (17) The raiders likely looted and burned the
house, killed livestock, and quickly fled with their captives.

A search party picked up their trail for a while, but down in the valley around Paint Bank the trail
went cold. (18) Jacob Jr. (about 6 years old) was adopted by an Indian mother and raised as her own.
(19) Paul was said to have died; Rebecca was never again heard from.

One can hardly imagine Jacob’s anguish when he and his sons returned to their decimated Hooks
Mill home. Only his three older sons and their sister Catherine had escaped the massacre. A sorrowful
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Jacob then must have arranged for Christian, who was too young for military service, and Catherine to
live with Swiss families in the large German-speaking settlement at the base of Peaked (pronounced
Peak-ed) Mountain (Massanutten) near Harrisonburg in Augusta. Jacob and the older boys Abraham and
Phillip joined Captain John Dickinson’s ranger company ofthe Virginia Regiment which during 1757
was operating in the Greenbrier valley and north of the James River.

Tragically, that same year both Abraham and Phillip were killed. (20) Now at age 42, Jacob in
about a year’s time had lost his wife Rebecca and seven of his nine children. As soon as he was able, he
joined Christian and Catherine at Peaked Mountain, where he lived for the next 12 years.

After the fall of Fort Duquesne in late 1758, the Northern Indians lost faith in the possibility of a
French victory, and raids on the frontier lessened. However, the formerly friendly Cherokees in the south
were now fomenting trouble. The area of conflict shifted to the Southside Virginia frontier — Bedford
and Halifax counties — from the Shenandoah Valley and continued until 1760.

From May 1758, Augusta County records indicate that Jacob was welcomed as a substantial citi-
zen by the Peaked Mountain Swiss Germans. He no doubt already knew many of the settlers from earlier
acquaintance in Pennsylvania, and he took a prominent part in community affairs.

During the next 10 years Jacob’s name appears frequently in various activities pertaining to wills
and estates and other legal matters. He did his duty in maintaining roads in his area; and he served as an
elder in the German Reformed Church.

Jacob posted bond in August 1760 as administrator of his son Phillip’s estate. What the assets
were was not reported, but in February 1761 an appraisment was presented to the court. (21)

While not fully documented, Phillip may have married Eve Marie Kummerlin. That family’s ge-
nealogy records indicate that Phillip Persinger was the father of her son, Henry Persinger, who was bom
ca. 1758, (22) after Phillip had been killed.

In 1760 Jacob married again. (23) Catherine Pence was the widow of Jacob Pence of the large
and well-established Pence family in the Peaked Mountain area. At the time oftheir marriage, Cath-
erine’s two youngest children, John age 11 and Barbara age 12, were adopted by Jacob Persinger. (His
two living children married their step-siblings: daughter Catherine married John Pence in 1763; son
Christian — anglicized to Christopher — married Barbara Pence in 1768.) (24)

Also in 1762 Jacob bought his first property in the area, a 125-acre tract on Cub Run. The fol-
lowing year he was granted a patent on 130 acres located near the base of Peaked Mountain where he
lived for the next several years, adding two adjacent tracts in 1764. He sold his original 125-acre tract
and settled on his 600-plus-acre plantation on the Keezeltown Road, just below Peale’s Cross Road, a
few miles southeast of Harrisonburg.

The Augusta County Order Book 10 states that Jacob and several others became naturalized citi-
zens in October 1765. They also were qualified as justices. (25)

The Strange Story of Jacob Persinger Jr.

At the conclusion of Pontiac’s rebellion in November 1764, the Shawnees reluctantly agreed to give up
their white prisoners, including children bom of white women. Many longtime adult captives had to be
forced to leave what they considered their homes and Indian families. A contemporary account stated,
“...The Shawnese were obliged to bind several oftheir prisoners and force them along to the camp; and
some women who had been delivered up, afterwards found means to escape and run back to the Indian
town... Some, who could not make their escape, clung to their savage acquaintance at parting, and con-
tinued many days in bitter lamentations, even refusing sustenance.” (26)

In late 1764, there was a release of Indian prisoners at the head ofthe James River near present-
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day Iron Gate, where the Cowpasture and Jackson Rivers come together. Jacob Persinger, and probably
his wife Catherine, were there on the off-chance that Jacob Jr. might be among the captives. Unclaimed
at day’s end was a tall white “Indian” boy about 15 or 16 years old, which would have been about Jacob
Jr.’s age at that time. Jacob took the lad into his family and adopted him, giving him Jacob Jr.’s name.
(27)

The white “Indian” boy resisted leaving his Shawnee mother and Indian family. During the pris-
oner exchange process he escaped several times and returned to his Shawnee mother. Each time, how-
ever, the tribe returned him to the white settlement, fearful of violating the treaty. Finally, young Jacob
decided to remain with his new white family and not trouble the Shawnees further.

Jacob Jr.’s life was difficult with the Persinger family. They spoke only German and he only the
Shawnee language. He got on poorly at school, to which he always carried his tomahawk, knife, bow
and arrows. After three months he refused to attend fur-
ther. Jacob Jr. spent most of his time in the woods where
he felt at home, hunting and trapping animals for their
pelts. Only gradually did he adjust to settler society.

Throughout his life Jacob Jr. claimed that as a
5-year-old he was playing at his father’s mill in Penn-
sylvania when he was stolen by the Indians. He said
that his last name was Godfrey but was never able to
confirm this. Whatever in his heart he believed, Jacob
treated the young man as his long lost son, Jacob Jr. (28)

A few years after adopting Jacob Jr., Jacob
resolved to leave his Peaked Mountain farm and relo-
cate in the newly forming Botetourt County. By 1770,
he had bought a small farm on McMurray’s Creek, (29)
abranch of the Cowpasture River, had relocated there,
and was selling his Peaked Mountain farm. We can only
speculate as to his motivation to remove from an estab-
lished, comfortable community of German-speakers to
what was still backcountry Virginia, until only recently
fraught with Indian troubles.

The happiness of his “reincarnated” son, Jacob
Jr., may have had much to do with it. Jacob Jr. was This painting depicts Col. Henry Bouquet,
much more at home in the mountains and forests than in  and English army officer, receiving English
civilization, and he had little in common with the culture captives from Native Americans at the end
ofthe settled German-speakers at Peaked Mountain. ofthe French and Indian War, 1764. [Source:

Botetourt County records show that during the ~ Ohiohistory.org]
next several years Jacob acquired several other tracts in
the county, but he sold them all not long after their purchase, apparently each at a profit. Also, he prob-
ably had in mind providing for his two sons.

Daughter Catherine Pence and her husband John were well settled now near Harrisonburg; and
Christopher in 1768 had married Barbara Pence. Several years later Christopher bought a 145-acre farm
on the North River ofthe Shenandoah.

Jacob Jr. must have moved to Botetourt with his parents because in September 1775 he enlisted
in the Army ofthe Revolution from Botetourt and served as a corporal under Captain Mathew Arbuckle.
Jacob Jr. saw no combat; and there is no record of military service prior to the Revolutionary War. (30)

Initially, Jacob Jr. went to the Greenbrier area and from there marched to Fort Pitt (formerly Fort

040 o



Carter family cabin ca. 1908. Marjorie Carter McCarthy is at far right, sitting. She died in 2005.
The cabin was built by Christopher Persinger ca. 1773. Dr. and Mrs. Carters home.

Duquesne) in Pennsylvania to obtain supplies. From Pennsylvania he marched to Fort Randolph, located
at Point Pleasant on the Ohio River, and was discharged November 1776. From Point Pleasant Jacob Jr.
returned to his parents’home in Botetourt. In his 1833 pension application, he declared that he had seen
no combat. (31)

Other than Jacob Jr.’s service early in the War, no other Persingers were in the army. However,
Jacob (probably Jr.) and Christopher provided services and supplies. Both registered locally for recruit-
ment in the army ini782, as required. (32)

Settling on Potts Creek, Virginia

On 8 December 1777, Jacob Persinger bought 110 acres, 8 miles southwest of the town of Covington on
Potts Creek, from James Williams of Montgomery County who had patented the tract in 1772. Jacob’s
intention was to divide the property between his two sons, Jacob Jr. and Christopher, who was still on
his own farm on North River ofthe Shenandoah. For convenience the entire tract initially was deeded
to Jacob Jr. (In 1798 Jacob Jr. deeded his brother Christopher his portion of the Potts Creek land, where
Christopher and his family had been living.) Jacob built a wigwam on his land; and in 1778 he married
Mary Kimberlin and took her to her new “home.”

Living in a wigwam and sleeping on bear skins was not quite to his new bride’s liking, so Jacob
Jr. built a proper bed and traded his bear skins for blankets. He also began construction of a proper log
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home, which with additions is still standing today.

Christopherjoined his brother on Potts Creek a
year or so later and built a cabin where the present Cart-
ers farmhouse now stands. He sold his North River farm
in Rockingham in 1781. Courthouse records beginning
in the early 1780s show the brothers paying land taxes
on their respective Potts Creek tracts.

The Death of Jacob Persinger Sr.

Jacob Persinger Sr. was about 72 when he died in 1788
or 1789, just about the time George Washington took
the oath of office for his first Presidential term. In April
1789 Christopher and the widow Catherine were sum-
moned to appear at the June Court to declare whether
they would administer Jacob’s estate. (He had no will.)
Jacob and Catherine had lived for nearly 20 years on
McMurry’s Creek, a branch of Cowpasture River, on the
small tract Jacob bought in 1770.

The appraisment bill ofthe estate (33) tells much
about how he lived his life. The total recorded inventory
value was £200.2s.6d., but some amounts are suspect.

Notes due from neighbors totaled over £138.,
mostly from Gasper Faught, whose serial notes for £10.
each came due 1787-1798. Indications are Faught may
have either died or removed from the county; if so, the
notes probably had no value.

Faught was either German or Swiss, as was Joseph Ensminger, another neighbor who was past
due on two £7 notes. Jacob was no doubt the typical thrifty Switzer; but he also had profited from his
real estate transactions in both Massanutten and western Augusta. He likely stuck close to his Swiss Ger-
man roots: the only books in his library were in “Dutch Print.”

Farm animals were few. He had one horse, a black mare about 9 years old with “one very old
saddle bridle & blind halter”; one cow with calf; two steers; a yearling “heffer”; eight sheep, including
three lambs; and three small hogs. Also included in the inventory was a spinning wheel, which with the
sheep indicates that they made their own clothes. (He had some old “wearing cloaths” valued at 12s.)

There was only one bed and furniture and modest personal items, mostly kitchen utensils, includ-
ing one skinner and one flesh fork. No other furniture is listed.

Cultivation of flax, spinning linen thread and weaving were typical Swiss farm activities to pro-
vide money for items they could not grow — sugar, salt. There were two entries in the inventory regard-
ing flax — hackles and breaks — and it’s likely that Jacob and Catherine were both proficient in linen
weaving. (Sail cloth was made from flax or hemp; one of the fields at the Carters farm was known as the
“hemp field.”)

Christopher Persinger presented a bill for £6.1s. for wintering stock. Otherwise, there were no
debts or charges against the estate.

There were no slaves.

Dr. Carterin white suit and hat. House in
background was remodeled around cabin
ca. 1913. Doc Carterdied in 1947 at age 84.
He was a country doctor for Potts Creek for
more than 50 years.

51



Jacob and Christopher, Briefly

Jacob Jr., continued hunting, but he also was a successful farmer,
and over the years he bought additional acreage. His will was writ-
ten 3 July 1840, and probated in May 1841. Jacob Jr. was around
92 when he died, leaving a moderately large estate to his children.
(34)

In 1802, Christopher drowned when his horse lay down
during high water in Potts Creek. His body was not recovered for
three days. (35) Christopher had 13 children. Moses bought out his
siblings and maintained the farm. One of Moses’ grandchildren,
Clarissa (Clara), inherited the property which in the 1890s became
known as “The Carters.”

Grave ofJacob Persinger Jr.,
1749-1841, in Persinger Family
Cemetery.
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by Peter Givens

easy to locate. It’s that long, thin, blue line over on the left-hand side, beginning at Shenan-

doah National Park and meandering down the mountains. The line takes a sharp, westward
turn just past Mt. Pisgah, and crosses the Cherokee Indian Reservation into the Smokies. It isn’t hard to
locate, and from this perspective, it looks relatively simple. On the ground, however, and especially as
we grapple with issues of protection and conservation, the complexities become all too apparent.

The Parkway is, after all, a piece of prime mountaintop real estate that just happens to touch
boundaries with two states, 29 counties, seven U. S. Congressional districts, two state parks and four
national forests. To complicate matters further, 5,000 individual tracts of land border the Parkway-
some ofthem may belong to you. Every decision concerning this property must take into consideration
the impact on each neighbor — perhaps even getting their input. It isn’t an easy task and increasingly we
find ourselves in this national park talking about partners and coalitions and agreements and understand-
ings with neighbors.

What do we learn about this place from looking at the map? It is long, linear, multiple communi-
ties and lots of sites to see. One thing we didn’t mention, which the map just happens to demonstrate, is
the knife-sharp edge on the boundary. And those ofus along the boundary or close to the boundary are in
this together, just by the fact that we are living “on the edge” of this national park.

Let’sreview a little of our history and take at look at the founders’vision and idea for this long,
linear park that would become what we sometimes call today “America’s favorite drive.” Hugging the
crest ofthe world’s oldest mountain range and winding through the coves and forest slopes that make up
much of Southern Appalachia is the Blue Ridge Parkway. A 469-mile winding, landscaped, recreational
road, specifically designed for the ride-a-while and stop-a-while vacation. An opportunity to leave the
hectic pace oftraffic jams and freeway speeds behind. Almost 20 million visitors did just that last year,
making the Parkway the most heavily traveled unit of the National Park System.

It began as an idea, a concept in the minds of Depression-era politicians. This type of project,
they reasoned, could provide public service jobs for many ofthe nation’s unemployed. At the same time,
it would be a link between the two eastern national parks, Virginia’s Shenandoah and the Great Smokies
of North Carolina and Tennessee. The route was decided and the process began: to carve out ofthis rug-
ged part ofthe Southern Appalachians, a road — a parkway — down the Blue Ridge.

The Southern mountains in the Depression-ridden 1930s were home to rugged German and
Scotts-Irish. The survey crews blazed a trail that sometimes led to cabins in remote coves — rocky hill-
sides where families eked out an existence from the land. I